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PART I

ITEM 1. Business

This Annual Report contains certain statements that may be considered forward-looking statements within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,  and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, and such statements are subject to the safe harbor created by such sections. All statements, other
than statements of historical fact, are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including without
limitation: any projections of earnings, revenues, or other financial items; any statement of plans, strategies, and
objectives of management for future operations; any statements concerning proposed new services or developments;
any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; and any statements of belief and any statement
of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Such statements may be identified by their use of terms or phrases
such as “expects,” “estimates,” “projects,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “intends,” "may," "could," and similar terms and phrases.
Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or
quantified, which could cause future events and actual results to differ materially from those set forth in, contemplated
by, or underlying the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include,
but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled "Item 1A. Risk Factors," set forth below. Readers should
review and consider the factors discussed in “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, along with various
disclosures in our press releases, stockholder reports, and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

All such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report.  You are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.  The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking
to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change
in the Company's expectations with regard thereto or any change in the events, conditions, or circumstances on which
any such statement is based.

References in this Annual Report to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Heartland,” or the “Company” or similar terms refer to Heartland
Express, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

General

Heartland Express, Inc. is a short-to-medium haul truckload carrier with corporate headquarters in North Liberty,
Iowa. The Company provides regional dry van truckload services through its regional terminals and its corporate
headquarters.  The Company transports freight for major shippers and generally earns revenue based on the number of
miles per load delivered.  The Company’s primary traffic lanes are between customer locations east of the Rocky
Mountains.  During 2005, the Company expanded to the Western United States with the opening of a terminal in
Phoenix, Arizona and complemented this expansion into the Western United States with the purchase of a terminal
location near Dallas, Texas during 2008.  These western operations accounted for approximately 16% of the
Company's business in 2012. The Company believes the keys to maintaining a high level of customer service are the
availability of late-model equipment and experienced drivers.  Management believes that the Company’s service
standards and equipment accessibility have made it a core carrier to many of its major customers.

Heartland was founded by Russell A. Gerdin in 1978 and became publicly traded in November 1986. Over the
twenty-six years from 1986 to 2012, Heartland has grown to $545.7 million in revenue from $21.6 million and net
income has increased to approximately $62 million from $3 million. Much of this growth has been attributable to
expanding service for existing customers, acquiring new customers, and continued expansion of the Company’s
operating regions.  More information regarding the Company's revenues and profits for the past three years can be
found in our "Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income" that is included in this report.
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In addition to internal growth, Heartland has completed five acquisitions since 1987 with the most recent in
2002.  These five acquisitions have enabled Heartland to solidify its position within existing regions, expand into new
operating regions, and to pursue new customer relationships in new markets. The Company will continue to evaluate
acquisition candidates that meet its financial and operating objectives.

Heartland Express, Inc. is a holding company incorporated in Nevada, which owns all of the stock of Heartland
Express Inc. of Iowa, Heartland Express Services, Inc., Heartland Express Maintenance Services, Inc., and A & M
Express, Inc. The Company operates as one reportable operating segment (see Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements).

1

Edgar Filing: HEARTLAND EXPRESS INC - Form 10-K

5



Operations

Heartland’s operations department focuses on the successful execution of customer expectations and providing
consistent opportunities for the fleet of employee drivers and independent contractors, in conjunction with maximizing
equipment utilization.  These objectives require a combined effort of marketing, regional operations managers, and
fleet management.

The Company’s customer service department is responsible for maintaining the continuity between the customer’s
needs and Heartland’s ability to meet those needs by communicating the customer’s expectations to the fleet
management group.  Collectively, the operations group (customer service and fleet management) and marketing are
charged with development of customer relationships, ensuring service standards, coordinating proper
freight-to-capacity balancing, trailer asset management, and daily tactical decisions pertaining to matching the
customer demand with the appropriate capacity within geographical service areas.  They assign orders to drivers based
on well-defined criteria, such as driver safety and United States Department of Transportation (the "DOT")
compliance, customer needs and service requirements, on-time service, equipment utilization, driver "home time",
operational efficiency, and equipment maintenance needs.

Fleet management employees are responsible for driver management and development.  Additionally, they maximize
the capacity that is available to meet the service needs of the Company’s customers.  Their responsibilities include
meeting the needs of the drivers within the standards that have been set by the organization and communicating the
requirements of the customers to the drivers on each order to ensure successful execution.

Serving the short-to-medium haul market (approximately 500 miles average length of haul in 2012 and 2011) permits
the Company to use primarily single, rather than team drivers and dispatch most loads directly from origin to
destination without an intermediate equipment change other than for driver scheduling purposes. All of the Company's
revenue is generated from within the U.S. and the Company does not have any long-lived assets located outside the
U.S.

Heartland operates nine specialized regional distribution operations in Atlanta, Georgia; Carlisle, Pennsylvania;
Chester, Virginia; Columbus, Ohio; Jacksonville, Florida; Kingsport, Tennessee; Olive Branch, Mississippi; Phoenix,
Arizona; and Seagoville, Texas (opened in January 2009) in addition to operations at our corporate headquarters in
North Liberty, Iowa.  The Company operates maintenance facilities at all regional distribution operating centers
including the corporate headquarters along with two shop only locations in O’Fallon, Missouri and Denver, Colorado
(opened in November 2012).  The Company previously operated a shop only location in Ft. Smith, Arkansas but this
facility was closed during 2011 and is currently used as a drop lot/relay location. These short-haul operations
concentrate on freight movements generally within a 500-mile radius of the regional terminals and are designed to
meet the needs of significant customers in those regions while allowing Company drivers to primarily stay within an
operating region which provides them with more home time.

Personnel at the individual regional locations manage these operations, and the Company uses a centralized computer
network and regular communication to achieve company-wide load coordination.

The Company emphasizes customer satisfaction through on-time performance, dependable late-model equipment, and
consistent equipment availability to meet the volume requirements of its large customers. The Company also
maintains a high trailer to tractor ratio, which facilitates the positioning of trailers at customer locations for convenient
loading and unloading.  This minimizes waiting time, which increases tractor utilization and promotes driver
retention.

Customers and Marketing
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The Company targets customers in its operating area with multiple, time-sensitive shipments, including those utilizing
"just-in-time" manufacturing and inventory management. In seeking these customers, Heartland has positioned itself
as a provider of premium service at compensatory rates, rather than competing solely on the basis of price. Freight
transported for the most part is non-perishable and predominantly does not require driver handling.  Management
believes Heartland’s reputation for quality service, reliable equipment, and equipment availability makes it a core
carrier for many of its customers.  As a testament to the Company’s premium service, the Company has received
nineteen customer service awards and recognitions including the Quest for Quality Award for dry freight carriers from
Logistics Management Magazine for the tenth consecutive year and the BP Lubricants USA safe driving award for the
fifth consecutive year. The Company received the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") SmartWay®
Excellence Award for 2012. The SmartWay® Award was received for the Company's commitment to environmental
excellence which was largely attributable to the Company's efforts to operating quality, highly efficient equipment
which has been achieved through the Company's operation of a late-model fleet of tractors and trailers and other
Company initiatives that contribute to the Company's energy efficiency. The Company also received Fleet Owner
Magazine's 2011 For-Hire Fleet of the Year award.

2
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Heartland seeks to transport freight that will complement traffic in its existing service areas and remain consistent
with the Company’s focus on short-to-medium haul and regional distribution markets.  Management believes that
building lane density in the Company’s primary traffic lanes will minimize empty miles and enhance driver "home
time."

The Company’s 25, 10, and 5 largest customers accounted for 75.8%, 54.1%, and 38.9% of gross revenue,
respectively, in 2012. The Company’s primary customers include retailers and manufacturers. During 2011 the
Company's 25, 10, and 5 largest customers were 74.9%, 51.6%, and 38.0%, of gross revenues respectively. During
2010 the Company's 25, 10, and 5 largest customers were 73.1%, 51.4%, and 37.7%, of gross revenues respectively.
One customer exceeded 10% and accounted for 11.1% of gross revenue during 2012, one customer exceeded 10% and
accounted for approximately 13.1% of gross revenue in 2011, and one customer exceeded 10% in 2010 and accounted
for 12.6% of gross revenue.  No other customer accounted for as much as ten percent of revenue in 2012, 2011, or
2010.  

Seasonality

The nature of the Company’s primary traffic (appliances, automotive parts, consumer products, paper products,
packaged foodstuffs, and retail goods) causes it to be distributed with relative uniformity throughout the
year.  However, seasonal variations during and after the winter holiday season have historically resulted in reduced
shipments by several industries. In addition, the Company’s operating expenses historically have been higher during
the winter months due to increased operating costs and higher fuel consumption in colder weather due to idling of
tractor equipment.

Drivers, Independent Contractors, and Other Employees

Heartland relies on its workforce in achieving its business objectives.  As of December 31, 2012, Heartland employed
2,993 people compared to 2,862 people as of December 31, 2011. The Company also contracted with independent
contractors to provide and operate tractors which provides the Company additional capacity.  Independent contractors
own their own tractors and are responsible for all associated expenses, including financing costs, fuel, maintenance,
insurance, and highway use taxes. The Company historically has operated a combined fleet of company and
independent contractor tractors.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, independent contractors accounted for
approximately 1.5% of the Company’s total miles compared to 1.8% in 2011.

Management’s strategy for both employee drivers and independent contractors is to (1) hire only safe and experienced
drivers (at least one year of over-the-road experience required); (2) promote retention with an industry leading
compensation package, positive working conditions, and targeting freight that requires little or no handling; and (3)
minimize safety problems through careful screening, mandatory drug testing, continuous training, electronic logging
system, and financial rewards for accident-free driving.  Heartland also seeks to minimize turnover of its employee
drivers by providing modern, comfortable equipment, and by regularly scheduling them to their homes.  All drivers
are generally compensated on the basis of miles driven including empty miles. This provides an incentive for the
Company to minimize empty miles and at the same time does not penalize drivers for inefficiencies of operations that
are beyond their control.

Heartland is not a party to a collective bargaining agreement.  Management believes that the Company has good
relationships with its employees.

Revenue Equipment

Heartland's management believes that operating high-quality, efficient equipment is an important part of providing
excellent service to customers.  All tractors are equipped with mobile communication systems. This technology allows
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for efficient communication with our drivers regarding freight and safety, provides an ability to manage the needs of
our customers based on real-time information on load status, as well as a platform to obtain information regarding
equipment and driver performance.  During 2010 the Company converted the previous driver communication systems
platform to a PeopleNet® platform which included electronic on-board recorders. During 2011 this change was
completed and the Company's has been operating on a paperless log environment since early 2011. This on-board
computing and communications system, including paperless logs, has improved and is expected to continue to
improve safety, equipment utilization, and customer service.

Historically the Company has operated a uniform fleet of tractors and trailers in an effort to minimize maintenance
costs and to standardize the Company’s maintenance program.   This has historically included tractors manufactured by
Navistar International Corporation and 53' dry van trailers manufactured by Wabash National Corporation and Great
Dane Limited Partnership.  In late 2012 and into 2013 the Company has introduced Freightliner tractors manufactured
by Daimler Trucks North America, LLC. Since 2009, the Company has been converting tractors to more aerodynamic
models which include speed management and idle management controls.

3
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Effective October 1, 2002, the EPA implemented engine requirements designed to reduce emissions over a period of
time. These requirements have been implemented in multiple phases starting in 2002 and required progressively more
restrictive emission requirements in 2007 and 2010.  Compliance with the new emission standards has resulted in a
significant increase in the cost of new tractors and higher maintenance costs.  The Company experienced an
approximate 37% increase in tractor costs from the period prior to the first phase of implementation in 2002 to the
second phase of implementation in 2007. From the second phase of implementation in 2007 through the third and final
phase of the EPA's required changes, the Company has experienced an additional 21% increase in tractor costs. As of
December 31, 2012, approximately 51% of the Company's tractor fleet consisted of models with pre 2010 engine
technology. The Company currently projects that 89% to 100% of the Company's tractor fleet will be tractors with
post 2010 engine technology by December 31, 2013. Equipment prices may continue to increase as new emission
standards released by the EPA are implemented.

As of December 31, 2012, 100% of the Company's tractor fleet was 2010 or newer model years. In the fourth quarter
of 2012, the Company began a tractor fleet upgrade project that is currently projected to continue throughout the first
half of 2013. This project includes International and Freightliner tractors manufactured by Navistar Inc. and Daimler
Trucks North America, LLC, respectively. As of December 31, 2012 the average age of our tractor fleet was 2.4 years
compared to 1.7 years at December 31, 2011. The Company operates the majority of its tractors while under warranty
to minimize repair and maintenance cost and reduce service interruptions caused by breakdowns. The Company has
aggressively been upgrading its fleet of trailers over the past three years. The average age of the Company's trailer
fleet has been reduced from 5.6 years at December 31, 2009 to 3.1 years, at December 31, 2012.  The Company’s
preventive maintenance program is designed to minimize equipment downtime, facilitate customer service, and
enhance trade value when revenue equipment is replaced.  Factors considered when purchasing new equipment
include fuel economy, price, technology, warranty terms, manufacturer support, driver comfort, and resale value. 
Independent contractor tractors are periodically inspected by the Company for compliance with operational and safety
requirements of the Company and the DOT.

Fuel

The Company purchases over-the-road fuel through a network of fuel stops throughout the United States at which the
Company has negotiated price discounts.  In addition, bulk fuel sites are maintained at eleven Company owned
locations which includes the nine regional terminal centers, the Company’s corporate headquarters, plus one of the
service terminal locations in order to take advantage of volume pricing.  The Company strategically manages fuel
purchase decisions based on pricing of over-the-road fuel prices, bulk fuel prices, and the routing of equipment. Both
above ground and underground storage tanks are utilized at the bulk fuel sites.  Exposure to environmental cleanup
costs is minimized by periodic inspection and monitoring of the tanks.  Increases in fuel prices can have an adverse
effect on the results of operations.  The Company has fuel surcharge agreements with most customers enabling the
pass through of long-term price increases.  For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, fuel expense, net
of fuel surcharge revenue and fuel stabilization paid to independent contractor was $58.3 million, $56.2 million, and
$53.2 million or 16.4%, 16.1%, and 15.3%, respectively, of the Company’s total operating expenses, net of fuel
surcharge revenue and gains on sales of equipment.  Fuel consumed by empty and out-of-route miles and by truck
engine idling time is not recoverable and therefore any increases or decreases in fuel prices related to empty and
out-of-route miles and idling time will directly impact the Company’s operating results.

During 2009 the Company contracted with an unrelated third party to hedge cash flows related to fuel purchases
associated with fuel consumption not covered by fuel surcharge agreements.  The hedging strategy was implemented
mainly to reduce the Company’s exposure to significant upward movements in diesel fuel prices related to fuel
consumed by empty and out-of-route miles and truck engine idling time which was not recoverable through fuel
surcharge agreements. There were no outstanding hedging contracts for fuel as of or during the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 or 2010. We may enter into contracts to hedge fuel costs in the future if market conditions
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warrant.

Competition

The truckload industry is highly competitive and fragmented with thousands of carriers of varying sizes.  The
Company competes with other truckload carriers; primarily those serving the regional, short-to-medium haul market.
Logistics providers, railroads, less-than-truckload carriers, and private fleets provide additional competition but to a
lesser extent. The industry is highly competitive based primarily upon freight rates, service, equipment availability,
and qualified drivers. As the general economic conditions and credit market conditions deteriorated throughout 2008
which continued throughout 2009 and into early 2010, the industry became extremely competitive based on freight
rates mainly due to excess tractor capacity.  Shipper demand and industry tractor capacity remained relatively equal
throughout 2011 and 2012. The Company believes it competes effectively by providing high-quality service and
meeting the equipment needs of targeted shippers. Strong competition within the industry for the hiring of drivers and
independent contractors will continue to challenge the Company and others in our industry.

4
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Safety and Risk Management

We are committed to promoting and maintaining a safe operation. Our safety program is designed to minimize
accidents and to conduct our business within governmental safety regulations.  We communicate safety issues with
drivers on a regular basis and emphasize safety through equipment specifications and regularly scheduled maintenance
intervals.  Our drivers are compensated and recognized for the achievement of a safe driving record.

The primary risks associated with our business include cargo loss and physical damage, personal injury, property
damage, and workers’ compensation claims. The Company self-insures a portion of the exposure related to all of the
aforementioned risks. Insurance coverage, including self-insurance retention levels, is evaluated on an annual basis.
The Company actively participates in the settlement of each claim incurred.

The Company self-insures auto liability (personal injury and property damage) claims up to $2.0 million per
occurrence.  Liabilities in excess of these amounts are covered by insurance up to $55.0 million in aggregate for the
coverage period.  The Company retains any liability in excess of $55.0 million. Catastrophic physical damage
coverage is carried to protect against natural disasters. The Company self-insures workers’ compensation claims up to
$1.0 million per occurrence.  All workers' compensation liabilities in excess of $1.0 million are covered by
insurance.  In addition, primary and excess coverage is maintained for employee health insurance.

Regulation

The Company is a common and contract motor carrier regulated by the DOT and various state and local
agencies.  The DOT generally governs matters such as safety requirements, registration to engage in motor carrier
operations, insurance requirements, and periodic financial reporting. The Company currently has a satisfactory DOT
safety rating, which is the highest available rating.  A conditional or unsatisfactory DOT safety rating could have an
adverse effect on the Company, as some of the Company’s contracts with customers require a satisfactory rating.  Such
matters as weight and dimensions of equipment are also subject to federal, state, and international regulations.

During 2009, the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration ("FMCSA") introduced Compliance Safety
Accountability, ("CSA"), which was a set of evaluation standards on the safety performance of motor carriers and
drivers which the Company is currently measured.  CSA enhances the measurement of a motor carrier’s safety
performance and adds innovative new tools designed to correct deficiencies.  CSA is designed to impact the behavior
of carriers and drivers, industry high-risk carriers and drivers, and apply a wider range of initiatives to reduce high risk
behavior.  Through CSA, the FMCSA along with its state partners includes a comprehensive measurement system of
all safety-based violations found during roadside inspections and weighing such violations by their relationship to
crash risk.  Safety performance information is accumulated to assess the safety performance of both carriers and
drivers.  Since enforcement and measurement began on CSA in 2010 the Company has not exceeded any of the
performance thresholds established by FMCSA's seven categories (unsafe driving, fatigued driving, driver fitness,
controlled substances, vehicle maintenance, hazardous materials and crash rating). The Company monitors its CSA
scores and compliance through results from roadside inspections and other data available to detect positive or negative
trends in compliance issues on an ongoing basis. The Company does not yet know what long-term impacts this new
program will have on its drivers and potential drivers but potential adverse effects to the Company's results of
operations may include:

•Current and potential drivers may no longer be eligible to drive for us.

•The Company's fleet could be ranked poorly as compared to our peers which could cause our customers to direct their
business away from us and to carriers with higher fleet rankings.

•A reduction in eligible drivers or a poor fleet ranking may result in difficulty attracting and retaining qualified drivers,
which could cause the Company to have unmanned trucks.  
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•Competition for drivers with favorable safety ratings may increase and thus provide for increases in driver related
compensation cost.

•
From time to time we could exceed the FMCSA's established intervention thresholds under certain categories. If we
exceed one or more of the thresholds, our drivers may be prioritized for intervention action or roadside inspection by
regulatory authorities. We may incur greater than expected expenses in our attempts to improve our scores.

•
The FMCSA also is considering revisions to the existing rating system and the safety labels assigned to motor carriers
evaluated by the DOT. Under the revised rating system being considered by the FMCSA, our safety rating would be
evaluated more regularly, and our safety rating would reflect a more in-depth assessment of safety-based violations.

The DOT, through the FMCSA, imposes safety and fitness regulations on the Company and our drivers.  In December
2011, the FMCSA issued a final rule that placed additional limits on the amount of time drivers may operate a
commercial motor vehicle,

5
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or hours-of-service ("HOS"). The FMCSA preserved the current 11-hour daily driving limit, but indicated that this
daily limit may be revisited in the future. Several organizations have challenged these new HOS requirements and
have asked for delays in the HOS rules effective date of July 1, 2013. The following table summarizes the changes set
forth in the new rules and their respective effective dates without any court actions:

Provision Current Rules Final Rules Required
Compliance Date

Limitations on
minimum "34-hour
restarts"

None
(1) Must include two periods between 1 a.m. - 5
a.m. home terminal time.
(2) May only be used once per week

July 1, 2013

Rest
breaks/consecutive
drive time

None except as limited
by other rule
provisions

May drive only if 8 hours or less have passed since
end of driver's last off-duty period of at least 30
minutes.

July 1, 2013

On-duty time

Includes any time in
commercial motor
vehicle ("CMV")
except sleeper-berth

Does not include any time resting in a
parked vehicle. While a CMV is in motion, does not
include up to 2 hours in passenger seat immediately
before or after 8 consecutive hours in sleeper-berth.

February 27, 2012

Penalties
"Egregious" hours of
service violations not
specifically defined.

Driving (or allowing a driver to drive) 3 or more
hours beyond the driving-time limit may be
considered an egregious violation and subject to the
maximum civil penalties.

February 27, 2012

We are unable to predict at this time what impact these new rules will have on our operations.  On the whole,
however, we believe the modifications to the current rules will decrease productivity and cause some loss of
efficiency, as drivers and shippers may need to be retrained, computer programming may require modifications,
additional drivers may need to be employed or engaged, additional equipment may need to be acquired, and some
shipping lanes may need to be reconfigured.  

On January 31, 2011, the FMCSA issued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking regarding electronic on-board recorders
(“EOBR”) and HOS supporting documents. In August of 2011, the U.S. Court of Appeals vacated the rule and sent it
back to the FMCSA. The FMCSA did not appeal the court decision. On February 13, 2012 the FMCSA issued a
notice stating additional work will be conducted by the FMCSA regarding the proposed use of EOBR's.
In July 2012, Congress passed a federal transportation bill that requires promulgation of rules mandating the use of
paperless logs by July 2013 with full adoption for all trucking companies no later than July 2015. It is uncertain if this
adoption date will be challenged or extended. Although the Company is not currently required to install EOBR's in its
tractors, the Company decided to install EOBR's in all of the Company's tractor models during 2011, which also
includes electronic logs for our drivers. As of December 31, 2011, 100% of our tractors have EOBR's installed
including electronic logs. The Company believes early adoption and implementation of EOBR's among the
Company's fleet during 2011 has provided the Company cost savings by implementing EOBR's prior to any final rules
by the FMCSA as well as positioning the Company for future rules mandating the use of EOBR's.
The Company may also become subject to new or more restrictive regulations relating to matters such as fuel
emissions and ergonomics. Company drivers and independent contractors also must comply with the safety and fitness
regulations promulgated by the DOT, including those relating to drug and alcohol testing.  Additional changes in the
laws and regulations governing our industry could affect the economics of the industry by requiring changes in
operating practices or by influencing the demand for, and the costs of providing, services to shippers.

The California Air Resource Board also has adopted emission control regulations which will be applicable to all
commercial vehicles traveling within the state of California. Beginning December 31, 2012, pre-2011 model year
53-foot or longer box-type trailers must meet the same requirements as 2011 model year and newer trailers or have
prepared and submitted a compliance plan, based on fleet size, which allows them to phase in their compliance over
time. Federal and state lawmakers also have proposed potential limits on carbon emissions under a variety of
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climate-change proposals. Compliance with such regulations has increased the cost of our new trailers, may increase
the cost of any new trailers that will operate in California, requires us to retrofit certain of our pre-2011 model year
trailers that will operate in California, and could impair equipment productivity and increase our operating expenses.
These adverse effects, combined with the uncertainty as to the reliability of the newly-designed diesel engines and the
residual value of these vehicles, could materially increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business or
operations.

6
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The Company’s operations are subject to various federal, state, and local environmental laws and regulations,
implemented principally by the EPA and similar state regulatory agencies. These laws and regulations include the
management of underground fuel storage tanks, the transportation of hazardous materials, the discharge of pollutants
into the air and surface and underground waters, and the disposal of hazardous waste.  The Company transports an
insignificant number of hazardous material shipments. Management believes that its operations are in compliance with
current laws and regulations and does not know of any existing condition that would cause compliance with applicable
environmental regulations to have a material effect on the Company’s capital expenditures, earnings and competitive
position.  In the event the Company should fail to comply with applicable regulations, the Company could be subject
to substantial fines or penalties and to civil or criminal liability.

Available Information

The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Definitive Proxy Statements, Current
Reports on Form 8-K and other information filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission are available to the
public, free of charge, on the Company’s Internet website, at http://www.heartlandexpress.com.  Information on the
Company’s website is not incorporated by reference into this annual report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A.     RISK FACTORS

Our future results may be affected by a number of factors over which we have little or no control. The following
discussion of risk factors contains forward-looking statements as discussed in Item 1 above.

Our business is subject to general economic and business factors that are largely out of our control, any of which
could have a materially adverse effect on our operating results.

Our business is dependent on a number of factors that may have a materially adverse effect on our results of
operations, many of which are beyond our control. The most significant of these factors are recessionary economic
cycles, changes in customers’ inventory levels, excess tractor or trailer capacity in comparison with shipping demand,
excess used tractors or trailers in comparison to used equipment demand at points we are selling used equipment, and
downturns in customers’ business cycles.  Economic conditions, particularly in market segments and industries where
we have a significant concentration of customers and in regions of the country where we have a significant amount of
business, a decrease in shipping demand or an increase in the supply of tractors and trailers can exert downward
pressure on rates or equipment utilization, thereby decreasing asset productivity. Adverse economic conditions also
may harm our customers and their ability to pay for our services. Customers encountering adverse economic
conditions represent a greater potential for loss, and we may be required to increase our allowance for doubtful
accounts.

We are also subject to increases in costs that are outside of our control that could materially reduce our profitability if
we are unable to increase our rates sufficiently. Such cost increases include, but are not limited to, fuel prices, costs of
revenue equipment, tires, taxes, tolls, license and registration fees, insurance costs, driver pay to attract and retain
drivers, driver recruitment costs, and healthcare for our employees. We could also be affected by strikes or other work
stoppages at customer, port, border, or other shipping locations.

In addition, we cannot predict the effects on the economy or consumer confidence of actual or threatened armed
conflicts or terrorist attacks, efforts to combat terrorism, military action against a foreign state or group located in a
foreign state, or heightened security requirements. Enhanced security measures could negatively impact our operating
efficiency and productivity and result in higher operating costs.

Our growth may not continue at historical rates.
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Historically, we have experienced significant and rapid growth in revenue and profits.  There can be no assurance that
our business will continue to grow in a similar fashion in the future or that we can effectively adapt our management,
administrative, and operational systems to respond to any future growth.  Further, there can be no assurance that our
operating margins will not be adversely affected by future changes in and expansion of our business or by changes in
economic conditions.

If we are unable to retain our current customers at our current freight rates, our results of operations could be
adversely affected.

We operate in a highly competitive and fragmented industry with thousands of carriers of varying sizes.  The industry
may become even more competitive in periods of excess tractor and trailer capacity in comparison with shipper
demand.  Many customers periodically accept bids from multiple carriers for their shipping needs, and this process
may depress freight rates.  In the event
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our customers are no longer willing to pay freight rates we expect to receive for the service we provide, we may lose
customers or be forced to lower our rates to retain customers, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We are highly dependent on a few major customers, the loss of one or more of which could have a materially adverse
effect on our business.

A significant portion of our revenue is generated from several major customers.  For the year ended December 31,
2012, our top 25 customers, based on revenue, accounted for approximately 75.8% of our gross revenue. One
customer accounted for approximately 11.1% of gross revenue in 2012.  No other single customers accounted for
more than ten percent of revenue. A reduction in or termination of our services by one or more of our major
customers, or these customers encountering adverse economic conditions represent a greater potential for loss and
could have a materially adverse effect on our business and operating results.

We have significant ongoing capital requirements that could affect our profitability if we are unable to generate
sufficient cash from operations and obtain financing on favorable terms.

The truckload industry is capital intensive, and our historical policy of operating late-model revenue equipment
requires us to expend significant amounts annually to maintain our fleet of revenue equipment.  We expect to pay for
projected capital expenditures with cash flows from operations and in certain times, proceeds from sales of equipment
being replaced.  If we are unable to generate sufficient cash from operations and sales of equipment being replaced,
we would need to utilize available cash reserves or seek alternative sources of capital, including financing, to meet our
capital requirements. In the event that we are unable to generate sufficient cash from operations or obtain financing on
favorable terms in the future, we may have to limit our fleet size, enter into less favorable financing arrangements, or
operate our revenue equipment for longer periods, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our
profitability.

Increased prices, reduced productivity, and restricted availability of new revenue equipment and decreased demand
and value of used equipment may adversely affect our earnings and cash flows.

We are subject to risk with respect to prices for new tractors.  Prices may increase, for among other reasons, due to
government regulations applicable to newly manufactured tractors and diesel engines and due to commodity prices
and pricing power among equipment manufacturers. Our business could be harmed if we are unable to continue to
obtain an adequate supply of new tractors and trailers.  As of December 31, 2012, all of our tractor fleet was
comprised of tractors with engines that met the EPA-mandated clean air standards that became effective January 1,
2007.  The Company has experienced an approximate 21% increase in tractor prices for 2007 engine compliant
tractors to tractors with 2010 engine compliance. As of December 31, 2012, approximately 51% of the Company's
tractor fleet consisted of models with pre 2010 engine technology. Accordingly, we expect to continue to pay
increased prices for tractor equipment as we continue to increase the percentage of our fleet that meets the most recent
EPA mandated clean air standards. The inability to recover tractor cost increases, as a result of new engine emission
requirements, with rate increases or cost reduction efforts could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations.

In addition, a decreased demand for used revenue equipment could adversely affect our business and operating results.
We rely on the sale and trade-in of used revenue equipment to partially offset the cost of new revenue
equipment.  When the supply of used revenue equipment exceeds the demand for used revenue equipment, the general
market value of used revenue equipment decreases.  Management reviews estimates of depreciation to best reflect
expected values of equipment at the end of the estimated useful life.  We generally do not have guaranteed residual
values on any of our current tractor fleet. The sale/trade values on tractors have been historically determined at the
point of an agreement for new replacement tractors and are largely reliant on the mileage of the equipment at the time
of trade/sale. Should the used market conditions deteriorate, it would increase our capital expenditures for new
revenue equipment, decrease our gains on sale of revenue equipment, or increase our maintenance costs if
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management decides to extend the use of revenue equipment in a depressed market.

If fuel prices increase significantly, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

We are subject to risk with respect to purchases of fuel.  Prices and availability of petroleum products are subject to
political and economic market factors as well as terrorist attacks, weather, political unrest and war in foreign
countries, all of which are generally outside our control and each of which may cause the price of fuel to
increase.  Because our operations are dependent upon diesel fuel, significant increases in diesel fuel costs could
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition if we are unable to pass increased
costs on to customers through rate increases or fuel surcharges.  Historically, we have sought to recover a portion of
increases in fuel prices from customers through fuel surcharges, and have used derivative instruments designated as
cash flow hedges on a limited basis.  During periods of rapidly rising fuel prices, fuel surcharge agreements do not
cover 100% of the Company’s incremental fuel expense.  Also, fuel surcharge agreements do not cover fuel consumed
in non
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customer driven miles (i.e. empty or out of route miles) and fuel consumed by idling tractors. Therefore, fuel
surcharges that can be collected do not always fully offset the increase in the cost of diesel fuel and there is no
assurance that we will be able to execute successful hedges in the future.  To the extent we are not successful in the
negotiations for fuel surcharges and hedging arrangements, our results of operations may be adversely affected.

Difficulty in driver and independent contractor recruitment and retention may have a materially adverse effect on our
business.

Difficulty in attracting or retaining qualified drivers, including independent contractors, could have a materially
adverse effect on our growth and profitability.  Our independent contractors are responsible for paying for their own
equipment, fuel, and other operating costs, and significant increases in these costs could cause them to seek higher
compensation from us or seek other opportunities within or outside the trucking industry.  In addition, competition for
drivers, which is always intense, may increase even more as the overall demand for freight services increases with
continued improvements in economic trends and conditions. If a shortage of drivers should continue, or if we were
unable to continue to attract and contract with independent contractors, we could be forced to limit our growth,
experience an increase in the number of our tractors without drivers, or be required to further adjust our driver
compensation package, which would lower our profitability. Increases in driver compensation could adversely affect
our profitability if not offset by a corresponding increase in rates.

If our independent contractors are deemed by regulators or judicial process to be employees, our business and results
of operations could be adversely affected.
Tax and other regulatory authorities have in the past sought to assert that independent contractors in the trucking
industry are employees rather than independent contractors. Proposed federal legislation would make it easier to
reclassify independent contractors as employees. Some states have put initiatives in place to increase their revenues
from items such as unemployment, workers’ compensation, and income taxes, and a reclassification of independent
contractors as employees would help states with this initiative. Further, class actions and other lawsuits have been
filed in our industry seeking to reclassify independent contractors as employees for a variety of purposes, including
workers’ compensation and health care coverage. Taxing and other regulatory authorities and courts apply a variety of
standards in their determination of independent contractors status. If our independent contractors are determined to be
our employees, we would incur additional exposure under federal and state tax, workers’ compensation, unemployment
benefits, labor, employment, and tort laws, including for prior periods, as well as potential liability for employee
benefits and tax withholdings.
We operate in a highly regulated industry and increased costs of compliance with, or liability for violation of, existing
or future regulations could have a materially adverse effect on our business.

We operate in the United States pursuant to operating authority granted by the U.S. Department of Transportation (the
"DOT"). Our company drivers and independent contractors also must comply with the safety and fitness regulations of
the DOT, including those relating to drug- and alcohol-testing and HOS. Weight and equipment dimensions also are
subject to government regulations. We also may become subject to new or more restrictive regulations relating to
exhaust emissions, drivers' HOS, ergonomics, electronic on-board recorders, collective bargaining, security at ports,
and other matters affecting safety or operating methods. In December 2011 new HOS rules were issued for
commercial motor vehicle drivers. The new rules changed requirements for HOS reset rules and introduced required
rest breaks. The implementation of these new rules within our operations and any future rulemaking regarding drivers'
HOS, could negatively impact utilization of our equipment. We are also unable to predict the effect of any new rules
that might be proposed if the final rule is stricken by a court, but any such proposed rules could increase costs in our
industry or decrease productivity.

The FMCSA has proposed new rules that will require nearly all carriers, including us, to install and use EOBR's in our
tractors to electronically monitor tractor miles and enforce hours-of-service.  In July 2012, Congress passed a federal
transportation bill that requires promulgation of rules mandating the use of paperless logs by July 2013 with full
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adoption for all trucking companies no later than July 2015. We converted our fleet to EOBR's including electronic
log books during 2011. Such installation could cause an increase in driver turn-over, information that can be used in
litigation, cost increases, and decreased asset utilization.

Federal, state, and municipal authorities have implemented and continue to implement various security measures,
including checkpoints and travel restrictions on large trucks. The Transportation Security Administration (the “TSA”) of
the Department of Homeland Security has adopted regulations that require a determination by the TSA that each
driver who applies for or renews his or her license for carrying hazardous materials is not a security threat. This could
reduce the pool of qualified drivers, which could require us to increase driver compensation, limit our fleet growth, or
let trucks sit idle. These regulations also could complicate the matching of available equipment with hazardous
material shipments, thereby increasing our response time on customer orders
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and our non-revenue miles. As a result, it is possible we may fail to meet the needs of our customers or may incur
increased expenses to do so. These security measures could negatively impact our operating results.

Some states and municipalities have begun to restrict the locations and amount of time where diesel-powered tractors,
such as ours, may idle, in order to reduce exhaust emissions. These restrictions could force us to alter our drivers'
behavior, purchase on-board power units that replaces engine power and eliminates idling, or face a decrease in
productivity.

CSA could adversely affect our profitability and operations, our ability to maintain or grow our fleet, and our
customer relationships.

Under CSA, drivers and fleets are evaluated and ranked based on certain safety-related standards. The methodology
for determining a carrier's DOT safety rating has been expanded to include the on-road safety performance of the
carrier's drivers. As a result, certain current and potential drivers may no longer be eligible to drive for us, our fleet
could be ranked poorly as compared to our peers, and our safety rating could be adversely impacted. A reduction in
eligible drivers or a poor fleet ranking may result in difficulty attracting and retaining qualified drivers, including
impacting our number of unmanned trucks, and could cause our customers to direct their business away from us and
to carriers with higher fleet rankings, which would adversely affect our results of operations.  Additionally,
competition for drivers with favorable safety ratings may increase and thus provide for increases in driver related
compensation cost. From time to time we could exceed the FMCSA's established intervention thresholds under certain
categories. If we exceed one or more of the thresholds, our drivers may be prioritized for intervention action or
roadside inspection by regulatory authorities. Additionally, we may incur greater than expected expenses in our
attempts to improve our scores.

Our operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations, the violation of which could result in
substantial fines or penalties.

In addition to direct regulation by the DOT and other agencies, we are subject to various environmental laws and
regulations dealing with the handling of hazardous materials, underground fuel storage tanks, and discharge and
retention of storm-water. We operate in industrial areas, where truck terminals and other industrial facilities are
located, and where groundwater or other forms of environmental contamination have occurred.  Our operations
involve the risks of fuel spillage or seepage, environmental damage, and hazardous waste disposal, among others.  We
also maintain bulk fuel storage and fuel islands at the majority of our facilities.  If we are involved in a spill or other
accident involving hazardous substances, or if we are found to be in violation of applicable laws or regulations, it
could have a materially adverse effect on our business and operating results. If we should fail to comply with
applicable environmental regulations, we could be subject to substantial fines or penalties and to civil and criminal
liability.

Our business also is subject to the effects of new tractor engine design requirements implemented by the EPA such as
those that became effective October 1, 2002, and additional EPA emission requirements that became effective in
January 2007 and January 2010 which are discussed above in Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Additional changes in the laws and regulations governing or impacting our industry could affect the economics of the
industry by requiring changes in operating practices or by influencing the demand for, and the costs of providing,
services to shippers.

We may not make acquisitions in the future, or if we do, we may not be successful in integrating the acquired
company, either of which could have a materially adverse effect on our business.

Historically, acquisitions have been a part of our growth.  There is no assurance that we will be successful in
identifying, negotiating, or consummating any future acquisitions.  If we fail to make any future acquisitions, our
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growth rate could be materially and adversely affected. Any acquisitions we undertake could involve the dilutive
issuance of equity securities, incurring indebtedness, and/or incurring large one-time expenses.  In addition,
acquisitions involve numerous risks, including difficulties in assimilating the acquired company's operations, the
diversion of our management's attention from other business concerns, risks of entering into markets in which we have
had no or only limited direct experience, and the potential loss of customers, key employees, and drivers of the
acquired company, all of which could have a materially adverse effect on our business and operating results.  If we
make acquisitions in the future, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully integrate the acquired
companies or assets into our business.

If we are unable to retain our key employees or find, develop, and retain service center managers, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We are highly dependent upon the services of several executive officers and key management employees. The loss of
any of their services could have a short-term, negative impact on our operations and profitability.  We must continue
to develop and retain a
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core group of managers if we are to realize our goal of expanding our operations and continuing our growth.  Failing
to develop and retain a core group of managers could have a materially adverse effect on our business.

If the estimated fair value of auction rate securities continue to remain below cost or if the fair value decreases
significantly from the current fair value, we may be required to record an impairment of these investments, through a
charge in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, which could have a materially adverse effect on our
earnings.

All of our long-term investments as of December 31, 2012 were in tax free, auction rate student loan educational
bonds primarily backed by the U.S. government.  The investments typically have an interest reset provision of 35 days
with contractual maturities that range from 21 to 27 years as of December 31, 2012.  At the reset date we historically
had the option to roll the investments and reset the interest rate or sell the investments in an auction.  We historically
received the par value of the investment plus accrued interest on reset date if the underlying investment was sold.  Of
investments held at December 31, 2012, 41% had AAA (or equivalent) ratings from recognized rating agencies and
the remainder held investment grade ratings.  We only hold senior positions of underlying securities.  We have not
invested in other asset-backed securities and do not have direct securitized sub-prime mortgage loans exposure or
loans to, commitments in, or investments in sub-prime lenders.  When we elect to participate in an auction and
therefore sell investments, there is no guarantee that a willing buyer will purchase the security resulting in us receiving
cash upon the election to sell.  During the quarter ended March 31, 2008 we began experiencing failures in the auction
process of auction rate securities that have continued through December 31, 2012.  The result is a lack of liquidity in
these investments. These investments were approximately 4.3% of our total assets at December 31, 2012.

As of December 31, 2012, all of our auction rate securities were associated with unsuccessful auctions.  Upon an
unsuccessful auction, the interest rate of the underlying investment is reset to a default interest rate.  Until a
subsequent auction is successful or the underlying security is called by the issuer, we will be unable to sell these
securities.  Based on the unsuccessful auctions that began during February 2008 and continued through December 31,
2012, we have classified these investments as long-term investments.   In addition, we recorded an adjustment to fair
value to reflect the lack of liquidity in these securities through an adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive
loss.  Since auction failures began and continuing through December 31, 2012, there were no instances of
delinquencies or non-payment of applicable interest from the issuers.  We have no assurance that we will be able to
sell these investments at par and cannot predict whether future auctions related to our auction rate securities will be
successful.  Should we have liquidity requirements before financial institutions provide liquidity to auction rate
securities, we may be required to discount these securities in order to liquidate them.  We will continue to monitor
these investments and ongoing market conditions in future periods to assess impairments considered to be other than
temporary.  Should estimated fair value continue to remain below cost or the fair value decrease significantly due
to credit related issues, we may be required to record an impairment of these investments, through a charge in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  Based on our current financial position, we do not believe that we
will have to sell these securities at a discount, however, if our financial condition changes and we were able to sell
them at a discount, it could have a materially adverse effect on our financial results.

Under current U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for valuing investments reported as
available-for-sale, we must value those assets at the prices that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The estimated fair value of the underlying
investments as of December 31, 2012 remains below amortized cost of the investments reflecting the lack of liquidity
in the auction rate markets.  As a result of the fair value measurements, we recognized an unrealized loss and
reduction to investments of $8.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2008.  Since the ARS liquidity issues
began in 2008 the Company has received $177.2 million in calls, at par, of these securities. The unrealized loss on
remaining investments was $1.3 million at December 31, 2012.

Seasonality and the impact of weather affect our operations and profitability.

Edgar Filing: HEARTLAND EXPRESS INC - Form 10-K

24



Our tractor productivity decreases during the winter season because inclement weather impedes operations, and some
shippers reduce their shipments after the winter holiday season. Revenue can also be affected by bad weather and
holidays, since revenue is directly related to available working days of shippers.  At the same time, operating expenses
increase and fuel efficiency declines because of engine idling and harsh weather which creates higher accident
frequency, increased claims, and more equipment repairs. We can also suffer short-term impacts from weather-related
events such as hurricanes, blizzards, ice storms, and floods that could harm our results or make our results more
volatile.

Ongoing insurance and claims expenses could significantly reduce our earnings.

Our future insurance and claims expense might exceed historical levels, which could reduce our earnings. We
self-insure for a portion of our claims exposure resulting from workers’ compensation, auto liability, general liability,
cargo and property damage claims, as well as employees’ health insurance. We are also responsible for our legal
expenses relating to such claims. We reserve currently for anticipated losses and related expenses. We periodically
evaluate and adjust our claims reserves to reflect trends in
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our own experience as well as industry trends. However, ultimate results may differ from our estimates, which could
result in losses over our reserved amounts.  We do not currently maintain directors’ and officers’ insurance coverage,
although we are obligated to indemnify them against certain liabilities they may incur while serving in such capacities.

We maintain insurance with licensed insurance carriers for the amounts in excess of our self-insured portion.  It is
possible that one or more claims could exceed our aggregate coverage limits. Insurance carriers that provide excess
insurance coverage to the Company currently and for past claim years have encountered financial issues.  Insurance
carriers have raised premiums for many businesses, including trucking companies. As a result, our insurance and
claims expense could increase, or we could raise our self-insured retention when our policies are renewed. If these
expenses increase, or if we experience a claim in excess of our coverage limits, or we experience a claim for which
coverage is not provided, or we experience a claim that is covered and our insurance company fails to perform, results
of our operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

We are dependent on computer and communications systems, and a systems failure could cause a significant
disruption to our business.

Our business depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of our computer and communications hardware
systems and infrastructure including our communications with our fleet of revenue equipment.  We currently use a
centralized computer network and regular communication to achieve system-wide load coordination.  Our operating
system is critical to understanding customer demands, accepting and planning loads, dispatching drivers and
equipment, and billing and collecting for our services. Our operations and those of our technology and
communications service providers are vulnerable to interruption by fire, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications
failure, terrorist attacks, internet failures, computer viruses, deliberate attacks of unauthorized access to systems,
denial-of-service attacks on websites and other events beyond our control. In the event of a significant system failure
or if security over our system and external systems relied upon is compromised in any way, our business could
experience significant disruption.

Concentrated ownership of our stock can influence shareholder decisions, may discourage a change in control, and
may have an adverse effect on share price of our stock.

Investors who purchase our common stock may be subject to certain risks due to the concentrated ownership of our
common stock. The Gerdin family, our directors, and our executive officers, as a group, own or control approximately
48% of our common stock. This ownership concentration may have the effect of discouraging, delaying, or preventing
a change in control, and may also have an adverse effect on the market price of our shares. As a result of their
ownership, the executive officers and directors, as a group, may have the ability to influence the outcome of any
matter submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company's headquarters are located in North Liberty, Iowa which is located on Interstate 380 near the
intersection of Interstates 380 and 80.  The headquarters is located on 40 acres of land along the Cedar Rapids/Iowa
City business corridor and includes a 65,000 square foot office building and a 32,600 square foot shop and
maintenance building.
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The following table provides information regarding the Company’s facilities and/or offices:
Company Location Office Shop Fuel Owned or Leased
North Liberty, Iowa Yes Yes Yes Owned
Ft. Smith, Arkansas (1) No No No Owned
O’Fallon, Missouri No Yes Yes Owned
Atlanta, Georgia Yes Yes Yes Owned
Columbus, Ohio Yes Yes Yes Owned
Jacksonville, Florida Yes Yes Yes Owned
Kingsport, Tennessee Yes Yes Yes Owned
Olive Branch, Mississippi Yes Yes Yes Owned
Chester, Virginia Yes Yes Yes Owned
Carlisle, Pennsylvania Yes Yes Yes Owned
Phoenix, Arizona Yes Yes Yes Owned
Seagoville, Texas Yes Yes Yes Owned
Denver, Colorado No Yes No Leased
(1) This location is currently being used by the Company as a drop yard for trailers and relays. The shop facility at this
location was closed in October 2011.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is a party to ordinary, routine litigation and administrative proceedings incidental to its business. These
proceedings primarily involve claims for personal injury, property damage, cargo, and workers’ compensation incurred
in connection with the transportation of freight.  The Company maintains insurance to cover liabilities arising from the
transportation of freight for amounts in excess of certain self-insured retentions.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.
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PART II

ITEM
5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock

The Company’s common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol HTLD. The following
table sets forth, for the calendar periods indicated, the range of high and low price quotations for the Company’s
common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global Select Market and the Company’s dividends declared per common
share from January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2012.

Period High Low Dividends declared per
Common Share

Calendar Year 2012
1st Quarter $15.52 $13.80 $0.02
2nd Quarter 14.69 13.50 0.02
3rd Quarter 14.71 12.85 0.02
4th Quarter 14.36 12.43 1.02
Calendar Year 2011
1st Quarter $18.04 $15.57 $0.02
2nd Quarter 18.12 15.32 0.02
3rd Quarter 17.37 12.75 0.02
4th Quarter 15.00 12.80 0.02

On February 27, 2013, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market was
$13.45 per share.

The prices reported reflect inter-dealer quotations without retail mark-ups, markdowns or commissions, and may not
represent actual transactions.  As of February 27, 2013, the Company had 199 stockholders of record of its common
stock.  However, the Company estimates that it has a significantly greater number of stockholders because a
substantial number of the Company’s shares of record are held by brokers or dealers for their customers in street
names.

Dividend Policy

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company announced the implementation of a quarterly cash dividend program.
The Company has declared and paid quarterly dividends for the past thirty-eight consecutive quarters.  During 2012
and 2011, the Company declared quarterly dividends as detailed below.

2012
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Announcement date March 12, 2012 June 7, 2012 September 12, 2012 November 16, 2012
Record date March 23, 2012 June 18, 2012 September 21, 2012 December 7, 2012
Payment date April 3, 2012 July 3, 2012 October 2, 2012 December 17, 2012
Payment amount (per common
share) $0.02 $0.02 $0.02 $1.02

Payment amount total for all
shares (in millions) $1.7 $1.7 $1.7 $86.7
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2011
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Announcement date March 11, 2011 June 13, 2011 September 12, 2011 November 29, 2011
Record date March 24, 2011 June 24, 2011 September 23, 2011 December 9, 2011
Payment date April 4, 2011 July 6, 2011 October 4, 2011 December 19, 2011
Payment amount (per common
share) $0.02 $0.02 $0.02 $0.02

Payment amount total for all
shares (in millions) $1.8 $1.8 $1.8 $1.7

During 2010 and 2012 the Company paid a special dividend of $1.00 per share on outstanding shares at the time of the
special dividend declaration which was in addition to regular quarterly dividends declared. Amounts of these special
dividends were $90.7 million in 2010 and $85.0 million in 2012.

The Company does not currently intend to discontinue the quarterly cash dividend program.  However, future
payments of cash dividends will depend upon the financial condition, results of operations and capital requirements of
the Company, as well as other factors deemed relevant by the Board of Directors.

Stock Repurchase

In September of 2001, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a program to repurchase 15.4 million shares,
adjusted for stock splits, of the Company’s common stock in open market or negotiated transactions using available
cash, cash equivalents and investments.  During February 2012 the Board of Directors increased the remaining
number of authorized shares for repurchase to 5.0 million shares. There were 1.8 million shares repurchased in the
open market during the year ended December 31, 2012 for a total of $24.2 million. Approximately 3.2 million shares
remained authorized for repurchase under the program as of December 31, 2012. The authorization remained open at
December 31, 2012 and has no expiration date. There were 4.2 million shares repurchased during 2011 for a total of
$56.4 million. Shares repurchased during 2012 and 2011 were accounted for as treasury stock. Shares purchased under
the program prior to 2011 were retired.

The specific timing and amount of repurchases will be determined by market conditions, cash flow requirements,
securities law limitations, and other factors. Repurchases will continue from time to time, as conditions permit, until
the number of shares authorized to be repurchased have been bought, or until the authorization to repurchase is
terminated, whichever occurs first. The share repurchase authorization is discretionary and has no expiration date. The
repurchase program may be suspended, modified, or discontinued at any time without prior notice.

Shares repurchased during the three month period ended December 31, 2012 are as follows:

(a) Total
number of
shares
purchased

(b) Average
price paid per
share

(c) Total number of
shares purchased as
part of publicly
announced plans or
programs

(d) Maximum number
of shares that may yet
be purchased under the
plans or programs

October 1, 2012 - October 31, 2012 391,747 $13.48 391,747 3,553,891
November 1, 2012 - November 30, 2012 328,822 $13.49 328,822 3,225,069
December 1, 2012 - December 31, 2012 — $— — 3,225,069

Stock-based Compensation

On July 11, 2011, a Special Meeting of Stockholders of Heartland Express, Inc. was held, at which meeting the
approval of the Heartland Express, Inc. 2011 Restricted Stock Award Plan (the "Plan") was ratified. The Plan

Edgar Filing: HEARTLAND EXPRESS INC - Form 10-K

31



authorized the issuance of up to 0.9 million shares and is administered by the Compensation Committee of the
Company's Board of Directors (the "Committee"). In accordance with and subject to the provisions of the Plan, the
Committee has the authority to determine all provisions of awards of restricted stock, including, without limitation,
the employees of the Company who will receive awards, the number of shares awarded to individual employees, the
time or times when awards will be granted, restrictions and other conditions (including, for example, the lapse of time)
to which the vesting of awards may be subject, and other terms and conditions and form of agreement to be entered
into by the Company and employees subject to awards of restricted stock. The Committee may allocate all or any
portion of its responsibilities and powers under the Plan to any one or more of its members, the Chief Executive
Officer, or other senior members of management as the Committee deems appropriate. Per the terms of the awards,
employees receiving awards
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will have all of the rights of a stockholder with respect to the unvested restricted shares including, but not limited to,
the right to receive such cash dividends, if any, as may be declared on such shares from time to time and the right to
vote such shares at any meeting of stockholders of the Company.

The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2012 , information about compensation plans under which our
equity securities are authorized for issuance:

Number of
Securities to be
Issued upon
Expiration of
Vesting
Requirements

Weighted
Average Stock
Price on Date
of Grant

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance under Equity
Compensation Plans
(Excluding Securities
Reflected in Column (a))

(a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plan approved by
stockholders 276,800 $13.57 555,886

The following table summarizes the Company's restricted stock award activity for the years ended December 31, 2012
and December 31, 2011. There were no restricted stock awards granted or outstanding during the years ended
December 31, 2010.

2012
Number of Restricted
Stock Awards

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested at beginning of year 351,000 $ 13.57
Granted — $ —
Vested (70,200 ) $ 13.57
Forfeited (4,000 ) $ 13.57
Outstanding (unvested) at end of
year 276,800 $ 13.57

2011
Number of Restricted
Stock Awards

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested at beginning of year — $ —
Granted 351,000 $ 13.57
Vested — $ —
Forfeited — $ —
Outstanding (unvested) at end of
year 351,000 $ 13.57
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presented below is derived from the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with "Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the Company’s consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto included in Item 7 of this Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Statements of Income Data:
Operating revenue $545,745 $528,623 $499,516 $459,539 $625,600
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits 167,073 166,717 167,980 168,716 197,992
Rent and purchased transportation 6,273 7,527 9,460 11,138 18,703
Fuel 168,981 161,915 126,477 104,246 204,708
Operations and maintenance 25,282 20,938 17,086 14,913 15,575
Operating taxes and licenses 8,694 9,225 8,480 9,286 9,317
Insurance and claims 14,906 13,142 12,526 16,629 24,307
Communications and utilities 2,953 2,957 3,187 3,655 3,693
Depreciation (1) 57,158 57,226 61,949 58,730 46,109
Other operating expenses 14,633 14,552 14,239 12,970 16,807
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (15,109 ) (32,133 ) (13,317 ) (19,708 ) (9,558 )

450,844 422,066 408,067 380,575 527,653
Operating income (1) 94,901 106,557 91,449 78,964 97,947
Interest income 674 773 1,424 2,338 9,132
Income before income taxes (1) 95,575 107,330 92,873 81,302 107,079
Federal and state income taxes 34,034 37,398 30,657 24,353 37,111
Net income (1) $61,541 $69,932 $62,216 $56,949 $69,968
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic 85,892 89,656 90,689 91,131 95,900
Diluted 86,201 89,673 90,689 91,131 95,900
Earnings per share (1)
Basic $0.72 $0.78 $0.69 $0.62 $0.73
Diluted $0.71 $0.78 $0.69 $0.62 $0.73
Dividends declared per share $1.08 $0.08 $1.08 $0.08 $0.08
Balance Sheet data:
Net working capital (3) $146,070 $167,772 $144,886 $77,460 $70,065
Total assets (3) 467,737 525,666 506,035 551,163 533,670
Stockholders' equity (2) 290,364 340,771 334,187 367,670 360,039
The Company had no long-term debt during any of the five years presented.

(1)

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company changed its estimate of depreciation expense on tractors acquired
subsequent to January 1, 2009, to 150% declining balance, to better reflect the estimated trade value of the
tractors at the estimated trade date.  Tractors acquired prior to December 31, 2008 were depreciated using the
125% declining balance method.  

(2)
During 2010 and 2012 the Company paid a special dividend of $1.00 per share on outstanding shares at the time
of the special dividend declaration which was in addition to regular quarterly dividends declared. Amounts of
these special dividends were $90.7 million in 2010 and $85.0 million in 2012.
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(3)

The Company maintains insurance accruals to reflect the estimated cost for auto liability, cargo loss and
damage, bodily injury and property damage (BI/PD), and workers' compensation claims, including estimated
loss and loss adjustment expenses incurred but not reported, and not covered by insurance.   During 2009 the
Company identified errors related to the classification of current and long-term insurance accruals and the
associated deferred tax implications.  As a result, the Company’s historical current assets, current liabilities and
long-term liabilities were misstated.   In accordance with the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 99,
Materiality, and SAB No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, management evaluated the materiality of the errors from
qualitative and quantitative perspectives, and concluded that the error was immaterial to the 2008
period.  Consequently, the Company revised its historical current and long-term liabilities as of December 31,
2008 to be consistent with the December 31, 2009 presentation which was consistently applied as of December
31, 2010, 2011 and 2012.  The change resulted in a decrease of $24 million to current assets and a decrease of
$60.2 million to current liabilities from amounts previously reported as of December 31, 2008.  

ITEM 7.MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

This Item 7 contains certain statements that may be considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and such statements are subject to the safe harbor created by such sections. All statements, other than
statements of historical fact, are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including without
limitation: any projections of earnings, revenues, or other financial items; any statement of plans, strategies, and
objectives of management for future operations; any statements concerning proposed new services or developments;
any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; and any statements of belief and any statement
of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Such statements may be identified by their use of terms or phrases
such as “expects,” “estimates,” “projects,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “may” “could, ” and similar terms and phrases.
Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or
quantified, which could cause future events and actual results to differ materially from those set forth in, contemplated
by, or underlying the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include,
but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled "Item 1A. Risk Factors," set forth above. Readers should
review and consider the factors discussed in “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, along with various
disclosures in our press releases, stockholder reports, and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

All such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. You are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking
to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change
in the Company's expectations with regard thereto or any change in the events, conditions, or circumstances on which
any such statement is based.

Overview

Heartland Express, Inc. is a short-to-medium haul truckload carrier with corporate headquarters in North Liberty,
Iowa. The Company provides regional dry van truckload services through its regional terminals and its corporate
headquarters.  The Company transports freight for major shippers and generally earns revenue based on the number of
miles per load delivered.  The Company’s eleven regional operating divisions, not including operations at the corporate
headquarters, accounted for 74.3%, 72.8%, and 71.3% of the operating revenues for the year ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  On-time customer service continues to be a key operating goal of the Company.
The Company believes the keys to maintaining a high level of service are the availability of late-model equipment and
experienced drivers.
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Operating efficiencies and cost controls are achieved through equipment utilization, operating a fleet of late model
equipment, maintaining an industry leading driver to non-driver employee ratio, and the effective management of
fixed and variable operating costs.   During 2009 industry capacity (available trucks) significantly exceeded demands
for freight services largely due to a significant decline in the U.S. economy and consumer spending. As such, there
was significant downward pressure on freight rates throughout 2009 and into 2010. General economic conditions and
downward pressure on freight rates caused increases in trucking company bankruptcies and other company tractor
fleet reductions during this same period. As a result of trucking company failures and other company fleet reductions,
during 2010, industry capacity came back in line with demand for freight services after a period of industry capacity
significantly exceeding demand for freight services. During the periods of 2011 and 2012 there has been close balance
of industry capacity and demand for freight services although the demand for freight services has not reached levels of
demand that existed during the years immediately preceding 2009. Balancing of the industry capacity and demand of
freight services has allowed the Company to obtain freight rate increases although these increases have not covered
the Company's increases in operating costs. Competition for drivers, which is always intense, escalated during 2011
due to general improvements in the demand for freight services. The Company has experienced increasing difficulties
attracting and retaining qualified drivers. The Company continues to explore new ideas and ways to attract and retain
qualified drivers.
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Containment of fuel cost continues to be one of management's top priorities. The Company continues to be challenged
by increased fuel prices and anticipates that fuel prices will remain at or above current levels. Average diesel fuel
prices have increased each year over the past year during the periods 2009 through 2012. Average Department of
Energy ("DOE") diesel prices for 2009 through 2012 have been, $2.47, $3.00, $3.85, and $3.97, respectively. Most
recently the DOE price was $4.16. The Company continues to manage and implement fuel initiative strategies to
effectively manage fuel costs.  These initiatives include strategic fueling of our trucks whether it be terminal fuel or
over-the-road fuel, reduction of tractor idle time, controlling out-of-route miles, controlling empty miles, trailer
skirting, and increased fuel economy through the purchase of newer, more fuel efficient tractors.  The Company is not
able to pass through all fuel price increases through fuel surcharge agreements with customers due to tractor idling
time, along with empty and out-of-route miles. The Company continues to focus on fuel surcharge pricing, truck
idling hours, and fuel purchasing decisions in an effort to lessen the impact of higher fuel costs. At December 31,
2012, 100% of the Company's tractor fleet is equipped with idle management controls. At December 31, 2012, the
Company’s tractor fleet had an average age of 2.4 years and the Company's trailer fleet had an average age of 3.1
years. The average age of tractor equipment is expected to improve throughout 2013 as the Company takes delivery of
new tractors and the trailer fleet is expected to remain consistent throughout 2013 with the sale of older units.

The Company continues to focus on growing internally by providing quality service to targeted customers with a high
density of freight in the Company’s regional operating areas. In addition to the development of its regional operating
centers, the Company has made five acquisitions since 1987.  We believe our commitment to quality service allowed
the Company to hold its freight rates relatively stable throughout the recent recession, in comparison to our
competitors, better positioning the Company for future growth as market capacity continues to tighten.   Future growth
is dependent upon several factors including the level of economic growth and the related customer demand, the
available capacity in the trucking industry, potential acquisition opportunities, and the availability and ability to attract
and retain experienced drivers that meet our hiring standards.

The Company hires only experienced drivers (minimum 1 year of driving experience) with safe driving records. In
order to attract and retain experienced drivers who understand the importance of customer service, the Company has
sought to solidify its position as an industry leader in driver compensation in the Company's operating markets. The
Company offers the top or near the top compensation pay per mile to drivers in the markets in which the Company
operates as well as safety pay incentives.

The Company became publicly traded in November, 1986 and is traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the
symbol HTLD. The Company was awarded Logistics Management Magazine Quest for Quality Award in 2012 for the
tenth straight year, BP Lubricants USA safe driving award for the past five consecutive years, as well as being named
Fleet Owners Magazine's 2011 Fleet of the Year. The Company also received the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency ("EPA") SmartWay® Excellence Award for 2012 for Company's ongoing fuel conservation efforts. During
the past four years the Company has received sixty nine customer service awards and industry recognitions.

The Company has paid cash dividends over the past thirty-eight consecutive quarters, including special dividends of
$196.5 million in May of 2007, $90.7 million in October of 2010, and $85.0 million in December 2012. In addition
the Company has paid approximately $162.3 million to repurchase 12.2 million shares through stock repurchases over
the past five years.

The Company ended the year of 2012 with operating revenues of $545.7 million, including fuel surcharges, net
income of $61.5 million, and basic net income per share of $0.72 on basic weighted average outstanding shares of
85.9 million compared to operating revenues of $528.6 million, including fuel surcharges, net income of $69.9
million, and basic net income per share of $0.78 on basic weighted average shares of 89.7 million in 2011. The
Company posted an 82.6% operating ratio (operating expenses as a percentage of operating revenues) for the year
ended December 31, 2012 compared to 79.8% for the same period of 2011 and a 11.3% net margin (net income as a
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percentage of operating revenues) for 2012 compared to 13.2% in same period of 2011. The Company had total assets
of $467.7 million at December 31, 2012. The Company achieved a return on assets of 11.6% and a return on equity of
17.7% over the immediate past four quarters ended December 31, 2012.  

The Company’s cash flow from operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 of $102.2 million was
18.7% of operating revenues compared to $99.1 million and 18.7% in 2011.  During 2012, the Company used $6.0
million in net investing cash flows, which was mainly the result of $37.6 million used in net purchases of revenue
equipment, which was offset by $32.4 million in calls of auction rate securities during the year, at par. The Company
used $116.1 million in financing activities directly related to $24.2 million used to repurchase shares of common stock
and another $91.9 million used to pay dividends to our shareholders during 2012. As a result, the Company decreased
cash and cash equivalents $19.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2012.  The Company ended 2012 with
cash, cash equivalents, and investments of $139.9 million and a debt-free balance sheet.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the percentage relationships of expense items to total operating revenue for the periods
indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

Operating revenue 100.0  % 100.0  % 100.0  %
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits 30.6  % 31.5  % 33.6  %
Rent and purchased transportation 1.1 1.4 1.9
Fuel 31.0 30.6 25.3
Operations and maintenance 4.6 4.0 3.4
Operating taxes and license 1.6 1.7 1.7
Insurance and claims 2.7 2.5 2.5
Communications and utilities 0.5 0.6 0.6
Depreciation 10.5 10.8 12.4
Other operating expenses 2.7 2.8 2.9
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (2.8 ) (6.1 ) (2.7 )

82.6  % 79.8  % 81.7  %
Operating income 17.4  % 20.2  % 18.3  %
Interest income 0.1  % 0.1  % 0.3  %
Income before income taxes 17.5  % 20.3  % 18.6  %
Income taxes 6.2 7.1 6.1
Net income 11.3  % 13.2  % 12.5  %

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared With the Year Ended December 31, 2011

Operating revenue increased $17.1 million (3.2%), to $545.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from
$528.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011.  The increase in revenue was the result of a $4.6 million (4.3%)
increase in fuel surcharge revenue from $107.8 million in 2011 to $112.4 million in 2012 and an increase in line haul
and other revenues of $12.5 million (3.0%). Fuel surcharge revenues represent fuel costs passed on to customers based
on customer specific fuel charge recovery rates and billed loaded miles. Fuel surcharge revenues increased mostly as a
result of a 3.2% increase in average DOE diesel fuel prices during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the
same period of 2011. Line haul revenues increased mainly as a result of freight rate increases offset by a slight
decrease in loaded miles.  

Salaries, wages, and benefits increased $0.4 million (0.2%), to $167.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012
from $166.7 million in the 2011 period.  The increase was the result of a $0.8 million increase (0.7%) in driver wages,
a $2.2 million increase in amortization of stock-based compensation awards, a $2.7 million (38.5%) decrease in
workers' compensation, and a $0.1 increase in other compensation and benefits. The Company driver wage increase
was mainly due an increase in miles driven. Amortization of stock-based compensation is related to restricted stock
awards that were granted in December 2011 and therefore there was not any significant associated expense in the 2011
period. Based on outstanding awards at December 31, 2012, stock-based compensation is expected to decrease to
approximately $1.0 million in 2013. Workers' compensation decreased due to frequency and severity of claims.

Rent and purchased transportation decreased $1.3 million (16.7%), to $6.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2012 from $7.5 million in the comparable period of 2011.  The decrease is mainly attributable to a decrease in
amounts paid to independent contractors due to fewer miles driven as a result of fewer independent contractors driving

Edgar Filing: HEARTLAND EXPRESS INC - Form 10-K

40



for the Company. During the year ended December 31, 2012, independent contractors accounted for 1.5% of the total
fleet miles compared to approximately 1.8% for the same period in 2011.

Fuel increased $7.1 million (4.4%), to $169.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $161.9 million for
the same period of 2011. The increase is primarily the result of increased fuel prices, $4.7 million, and increased total
miles, $2.4 million. Fuel cost per mile, net of fuel surcharge, increased 2.2% in the 2012 period compared to the same
period of 2011.  The DOE
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average diesel price per gallon for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $3.97 per gallon compared to the same
period of 2011 of $3.85 per gallon a 3.2% increase.   The difference in the increase in the DOE average price and the
Company's fuel cost per mile, net of fuel surcharge is largely attributable to a slight increase in fuel economy due to
newer, more fuel efficient, revenue equipment, increases in fuel surcharge revenues, and a reduction of out of route
miles.

Depreciation decreased $0.1 million (0.1%), to $57.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 from $57.2
million in the same period of 2011.  The decrease is mainly attributable to a decrease in average depreciation per
tractor due to timing of tractor purchases and the Company's 150% declining balance tractor depreciation method
offset by depreciation increase for trailer purchases during the current year. As tractors are depreciated using the
declining balance method, depreciation expense declines in years subsequent to the first year after initial
purchase.  The majority of the Company's current tractor fleet were purchased prior to 2012. Therefore each year after
the initial purchase, depreciation expense is lower on a per unit basis. The decrease in tractor depreciation due to the
aging of equipment was partially offset by higher depreciation on new tractors placed in service during 2012. Tractor
depreciation decreased $3.2 million to $40.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $44.1 million in the
same period 2011 as a result of the above items.   There was an increase of $3.4 million in trailer depreciation in the
year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011.  The increase in trailer depreciation was the direct result of trailers
that had previously been depreciated to salvage value in a prior period being replaced by new trailers during 2012. The
change in all other depreciation was not significant. Due to our current tractor fleet upgrade project, increased costs of
new tractor equipment, our tractor depreciation method, and our projected capital expenditures for 2013 regarding
tractor equipment we expect depreciation to trend higher in 2013 as compared to depreciation expense for 2012.

Operating and maintenance expense increased $4.3 million (20.7%), to $25.3 million during the year ended
December 31, 2012 from $20.9 million in the same period of 2011. Operating and maintenance costs increased $3.7
million mainly due to increased tire costs, resulting from a combination of amortization of tires on newly acquired
revenue equipment, amortization of replacement tires, and increased tire prices paid in 2011 and 2012.

Insurance and claims increased $1.8 million (13.4% ) to $14.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012
compared to $13.1 million for 2011 period. The increase was the result of an increase in the frequency of accidents
and insurance expense.

Gains on the disposal of property and equipment decreased $17.0 million (53.0%), to $15.1 million during the year
ended December 31, 2012 from $32.1 million in the same period of 2011.  The decrease was the combined effect of
decreases in gains on sales of tractor equipment of $11.1 million and decreased gains on trailer equipment sales of
$5.9 million. The decrease in gains on tractors and trailers was largely due to the Company selling approximately 66%
less tractors and approximately 54% less trailer units during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the same
period of 2011. The Company currently anticipates revenue equipment sale activity during 2013 to increase from 2012
levels due to the current tractor fleet upgrade program that is presently anticipated to occur through most of 2013.

Interest income decreased $0.1 million (12.8%), to $0.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2012 from $0.8
million in the 2011 period.   The decrease is mainly the result of lower average portfolio returns due to the continued
historical lows of short-term interest rates. The decrease in the Company's overall return was largely attributable to a
larger mix of cash and cash equivalents on average held throughout the year compared to the prior year due to calls of
long-term auction rate security investments tied to longer term interest rates being converted to cash and cash
equivalents upon receipt of calls of auction rate securities.

The Company’s effective tax rate was 35.6% and 34.8% for year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.  The increase in the effective tax rate for 2012 is primarily attributable to a decrease in favorable income
tax expense adjustments during the 2012 period compared to the same period of 2011 resulting from the roll off of
certain state tax contingencies.
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As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s operating ratio (operating expenses as a percentage of operating revenue)
was 82.6% during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared with 79.8% during the year ended December 31,
2011.  Net income decreased $8.4 million (12.0%), to $61.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $69.9
million during the compared 2011 period as a result of the net effects discussed above.

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared With the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Operating revenue increased $29.1 million (5.8%), to $528.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from
$499.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2010.  The increase in revenue was mainly the result of a $32.5
million (43.2%) increase in fuel surcharge revenue from $75.3 million in 2010 to $107.8 million in 2011.  Line haul
and other revenues decreased $3.4 million (0.8%) on a decrease in total miles, offset by an increase in freight rates per
total mile. Fuel surcharge revenues represent fuel costs passed on to customers based on customer specific fuel charge
recovery rates and billed loaded miles. Fuel surcharge revenues
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increased mostly as a result of a 28.4% increase in average DOE diesel fuel prices during the year ended
December 31, 2011 compared to the same period of 2010, as well as an improvement in loaded miles versus total
miles comparing the two periods.  

Salaries, wages, and benefits decreased $1.3 million (0.8%), to $166.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011
from $168.0 million in the 2010 period.  The decrease was the net result of a $3.0 million decrease (2.5%) in driver
wages, a $0.4 million increase (2.1%) in office and shop wages, a $1.9 million (37.4%) increase in workers'
compensation and a $1.0 million decrease in health insurance (11.0%), and a $0.4 million increase in other benefits
and payroll taxes.   The Company driver wage decrease was mainly due a decrease in miles driven year over year as
well as a decrease in the overall company average wage rate per mile due mainly to the mix of company drivers based
on operating region locations. Office and shop personnel wages increased primarily as a result of more non-driver
personnel in 2011 compared to the same period of 2010.  Health insurance and workers' compensation decreased and
increased, respectively, due to frequency and severity of claims.

Rent and purchased transportation decreased $1.9 million (20.4%), to $7.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2011 from $9.5 million in the comparable period of 2010.  The decrease is mainly attributable to a decrease in
amounts paid to independent contractors due to fewer miles driven as a result of fewer independent contractors driving
for the Company. During the year ended December 31, 2011, independent contractors accounted for 2% of the total
fleet miles compared to approximately 3% for the same period in 2010.

Fuel increased $35.4 million (28.0%), to $161.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $126.5 million
for the same period of 2010. The increase is primarily the result of increased fuel prices, $37.6 million, which was
offset by a decrease in volume of $2.2 million mainly due to fewer miles driven. Fuel cost per mile, net of fuel
surcharge, increased 7.1% in the 2011 period compared to the same period of 2010.  The DOE average diesel price per
gallon for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $3.85 per gallon compared to the same period of 2010 of $3.00 per
gallon a 28.4% increase.   The difference in the increase in the DOE average price and the Company's fuel cost per
mile, net of fuel surcharge is largely attributable to newer, more fuel efficient, revenue equipment and improvements
in the Company's total average fuel economy as well as increases in fuel surcharge revenues.

Depreciation decreased $4.7 million (7.6%), to $57.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2011 from $61.9
million in the same period of 2010.  The decrease is mainly attributable to a decrease in average depreciation per
tractor due to timing of tractor purchases and the Company's tractor depreciation method. As tractors are depreciated
using the declining balance method, depreciation expense declines in years subsequent to the first year after initial
purchase.  The majority of the Company's current tractor fleet were purchased throughout 2009. Therefore each year
after the initial purchase, depreciation expense is lower on a per unit basis. Tractors purchased subsequent to January
1, 2009 are being depreciated using the 150% declining balance method and accounted for approximately 89.3% of
the total tractor fleet at December 31, 2010 which was increased to 100.0% during the 4th quarter of 2011. Tractors
purchased prior to January 1, 2009 are depreciated using the 125% declining balance method.  The change was the
result of the cost of new tractors, current tractor trade values and the expected values in the used equipment
market.  The decrease in tractor depreciation due to the aging of equipment was partially offset by higher depreciation
on new tractors placed in service during 2011. Tractor depreciation decreased $7.4 million to $44.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011 from $51.5 million in the same period 2010 as a result of the above items.   There was
an increase of $2.8 million in trailer depreciation in the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to 2010.  The
increase in trailer depreciation was the direct result of trailers that had previously been depreciated to salvage value in
a prior period being replaced by new trailers. The change in all other depreciation was not significant.

Operating and maintenance expense increased $3.9 million (22.5%), to $20.9 million during the year ended
December 31, 2011from $17.1 million in the same period of 2010. Operating and maintenance costs increased $3.6
million mainly due to increased tire costs, resulting from a combination of amortization of tires on newly acquired
revenue equipment, amortization of replacement tires, and increased tire prices paid in 2011.
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Gains on the disposal of property and equipment increased $18.8 million (141.3%), to $32.1 million during the year
ended December 31, 2011 from $13.3 million in the same period of 2010.  The increase was the combined effect of
increases in gains on sales of tractor equipment of $13.1 million and increased gains on trailer equipment sales of $5.7
million. The increase in gains on tractors and trailers was largely due to the Company selling approximately 57%
more tractors and approximately 85% more trailer equipment during the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to
the same period of 2010 due to favorable market conditions and the Company's continued fleet upgrade program. The
Company intends to use strong pricing of used equipment as an opportunity to continue to upgrade its trailer fleet in
2012 but to a lesser extent than it did in 2011.

Interest income decreased $0.7 million (45.7%), to $0.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2011from $1.4
million in the 2010 period.   The decrease is mainly the result of lower average portfolio returns due to the continued
historical lows of short-term interest rates. The decrease in the Company's overall return was largely attributable to a
larger mix of cash and cash equivalents
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on average held throughout the year compared to the prior year due to calls of long-term auction rate security
investments tied to longer term interest rates being converted to cash and cash equivalents upon receipt of calls of
auction rate securities.

The Company’s effective tax rate was 34.8% and 33.0% for year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.  The increase in the effective tax rate for 2011 is primarily attributable to a decrease in favorable income
tax expense adjustments during the 2011 period compared to the same period of 2010 resulting from the roll off of
certain state tax contingencies coupled with more taxable income during the current year compared to the same period
of 2010.

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s operating ratio (operating expenses as a percentage of operating revenue)
was 79.8% during the year ended December 31, 2011 compared with 81.7% during the year ended December 31,
2010.  Net income increased $7.7 million (12.4%), to $69.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $62.2
million during the compared 2010 period as a result of the net effects discussed above.

Inflation and Fuel Cost

Most of the Company’s operating expenses are inflation-sensitive, with inflation generally producing increased costs of
operations.  During the past three years, inflation has been fairly modest with its impacts mostly related to revenue
equipment prices, tire prices and the compensation paid to drivers.  Innovations in equipment technology, EPA
mandated new engine emission requirements on tractor engines manufactured after January 1, 2007 and January 1,
2010, and driver comfort have resulted in higher tractor prices.  The Company historically has limited the effects of
inflation through increases in freight rates and certain cost control efforts.  Tractors currently being purchased with
engines meeting January 1, 2010 EPA requirements are approximately 21% more expensive than tractors that were
purchased with engines meeting January 1, 2007 EPA requirements. Tractors previously acquired with engines
meeting January 1, 2007 EPA requirements were approximately 37% more expensive than tractors that were
purchased with engines meeting January 1, 2002 EPA requirements. General improvement of economic conditions
and balancing of industry supply and the demand for freight services in 2010 and 2011 have allowed certain rate
increases mainly in 2011 and 2012, although the rate increases received have significantly lagged the increased prices
paid for new revenue equipment over the same period.

In addition to inflation, fluctuations in fuel prices can affect profitability.  Most of the Company’s contracts with
customers contain fuel surcharge provisions.  Although the Company historically has been able to pass through most
long-term increases in fuel prices and operating taxes to customers in the form of surcharges and higher rates,
shorter-term increases are not fully recovered.   Average DOE fuel prices during 2008 through 2012 are summarized
below.

Department of Energy Diesel Fuel Prices
Annual High Annual Low Annual Average

2008 $4.764 $2.089 $3.761
2009 2.808 2.017 2.474
2010 3.331 2.756 2.998
2011 4.124 3.333 3.848
2012 4.150 3.648 3.971

Fuel expense, net of fuel surcharge revenue and fuel stabilization paid to independent contractors along with favorable
fuel hedge settlements in 2009, was 16.4%, 16.1%, 15.3%, and 15.1% for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011,
2010, and 2009, respectively, of the Company’s total operating expenses, net of fuel surcharge revenue and gains on
sale of equipment.  Significant fluctuations in fuel prices increase our cost of operations as the Company is unable to
pass through all increases in fuel prices.  The Company is not able to recover fuel surcharge on empty miles, out of
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route miles, or fuel used in idling so as there are significant changes in fuel prices the Company's operating results
could be adversely effected.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The growth of the Company’s business requires significant investments in new revenue equipment.  Historically the
Company has been debt-free, funding revenue equipment purchases with cash flow provided by operations and sales
of equipment, which has been the case during the most recent tractor and trailer upgrades. The Company ended 2012
with cash and cash equivalents of $119.8 million. The Company’s primary source of liquidity has historically been
from operating activities which during 2012 was $102.2 million compared to $99.1 million during the same period of
2011.  This was primarily a result of net income (excluding non-cash depreciation, changes in deferred taxes, and
gains on disposal of equipment) being approximately $9.7 million lower
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during 2012 compared to 2011 offset by an increase in cash flow generated by operating assets and liabilities of
approximately $12.8 million.  The net increase in cash provided by operating assets and liabilities for 2012 compared
to the same period of 2011 was mainly attributable to decreased spending on prepaid tires and an increase in accounts
receivable. Cash flow from operating activities was 18.7% of operating revenues for the year ended December 31,
2012 compared with 18.7% for the same period of 2011.

Cash flows used in investing activities was $6.0 million during 2012 compared to cash flows used in investing
activities of $16.9 million during 2011 or a decrease in cash used of $10.9 million.  The decrease in cash used in
investing activities was mainly the result of a decrease in net capital expenditures (cash used in equipment purchases
less cash provided from equipment sales) of $15.6 million. The company acquired approximately 39% fewer pieces of
equipment in 2012 compared to 2011. Offsetting the reduction in net cash used for revenue equipment purchases was
a reduction in cash provided from calls on ARS investments of $5.8 million. The Company currently anticipates net
capital expenditures on revenue equipment to be approximately $60 million to $65 million for 2013 most of which
relates to the Company's upgrade of its tractor fleet throughout 2013. Although the Company expects to continue to
sell trailers during 2013, there are no guaranteed commitments from third parties to buy trailers during 2013 and
therefore these estimated trailer proceeds have not been used to reduce the Company's outstanding commitment.

In September, 2001, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a program to repurchase 15.4 million shares,
adjusted for stock splits, of the Company’s common stock in open market or negotiated transactions using available
cash, cash equivalents and investments.  As of December 31, 2011 there were approximately 2.2 million remaining
shares authorized for repurchase under a repurchase program. During February 2012, the Board of Directors increased
the shares authorized for repurchase from the amount available to repurchase by approximately 2.8 million shares to a
total of 5.0 million shares. There were 1.8 million shares repurchased in the open market during the year ended
December 31, 2012 for a total of $24.2 million, all of which were repurchased subsequent to the Board of Directors
increased authorization in February 2012. The authorization remained open at December 31, 2012 and has no
expiration date. Approximately 3.2 million shares remain authorized for repurchase under the program as of
December 31, 2012. There were 4.2 million shares repurchased during 2011 for a total of $56.4 million. Shares
repurchased during 2012 and 2011 were accounted for as treasury stock. Any shares purchased under the repurchase
program prior to 2011 were retired. Repurchases will continue from time to time, as conditions permit, until the
number of shares authorized to be repurchased have been bought, or until the authorization to repurchase is
terminated, whichever occurs first. The share repurchase authorization is discretionary and has no expiration dates.
The repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time without prior notice.  

The Company paid income taxes, net of refunds, of $42.8 million in 2012 which was $18.6 million higher than
income taxes paid during 2011 of $24.2 million.   The increase is largely driven by an increase in estimated federal
income tax payments as a result of 100% bonus depreciation for tax purposes on new tractor and trailer equipment
purchases during 2011 and only 50% bonus depreciation allowed for 2012. As 100% of the purchase price of new
equipment was expensed in 2011 for tax purposes, there will not be any tax depreciation deduction available on these
assets' over the assets estimated tax life and therefore, cash payments for income taxes were significantly higher in
2012 compared to 2011 and there was less current year bonus depreciation on current year additions to offset this
increase.

Management believes the Company has adequate liquidity to meet its current and projected needs in the foreseeable
future.  Management believes the Company will continue to have significant capital requirements over the long-term
which are expected to be funded from cash flows provided by operations, existing cash, cash equivalents and
investments, and in certain cases, proceeds from the sale of used equipment.  The Company’s balance sheet remains
debt free.   At December 31, 2012, the Company had $139.9 million in cash, cash equivalents and investments, a
decrease of $50.4 million from December 31, 2011 although the Company spent $147.2 million on net equipment
purchases, stock repurchases, and a special dividend during the year ended December 31, 2012.  
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All of the Company’s long-term investment balances at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 were invested in
tax free, auction rate student ("ARS") loan educational bonds that are classified as available-for-sale.  The investments
typically have an interest reset provision of 35 days with contractual maturities that currently range from June 1, 2034
to May 1, 2040.  At the reset date, the Company has the option to roll the investments and reset the interest rate or sell
the investments in an auction. The Company receives the par value of the investment plus accrued interest on the reset
date if the underlying investment is sold. All of the ARS holdings are backed by the U.S. government. As of
December 31, 2011, 100% of ARS holdings, at par, held AAA (or equivalent) ratings from recognized rating
agencies. As of December 31, 2012, 41% of ARS holdings, at par, held AAA (or equivalent) ratings from recognized
rating agencies.  The remaining ARS holdings, at par, held high grade investment (AA+) or upper medium grade
investment (A) ratings from recognized rating agencies. Previous downgrades of U.S. debt, combined with the
respective financial strength of underlying trusts of the ARS investments, equated to downgrades of a portion of our
ARS holdings during 2012. This was deemed primarily due to the U.S. government backing of the underlying
securities and the U.S. government's credit rating decline. Further, calls received during 2012 were primarily received
on holdings that held higher ratings.
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As of December 31, 2012, all of the Company’s auction rate student loan bonds were associated with unsuccessful
auctions.  As such, the estimated fair value of the underlying investments had declined below amortized cost of the
investments as a result of liquidity issues in the auction rate markets. To date, there have been no instances of
delinquencies or non-payment of applicable interest from the issuers and all calls of securities by the issuers have been
at par value plus accrued interest.  Since the first auction failures in February 2008 when the Company had
approximately $198.5 million ARS at par, the Company has received approximately $177.2 million of calls from
issuers, at par, plus accrued interest at the time of the call.  This includes $32.4 million and $38.1 million, received in
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 respectively. Accrued interest income is included in other current assets
in the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company performs an internal cash flow analysis on an individual investment basis to estimate fair value of ARS
using inputs determined based on management's understanding of market conditions as well as information derived
from other publicly available third party sources. The Company also obtains estimated fair value of ARS from a third
party financial advisor. The Company obtains an understanding of assumptions in models used by the third party
financial institution to estimate fair value. All of this information is considered when determining the estimated fair
value of these instruments as recorded in the consolidated financial statements. The Company has analyzed the
potential impact of a 50 basis point change to the rate of return, discount rate, and liquidity discount rate noting that
this would not materially impact the recorded fair value.

The unrealized loss of $1.3 million is recorded as an adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive loss and the
Company has not recognized any other than temporary impairments in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.  During the year ended December 31, 2012 the Company recorded unrealized gains of $1.8 million due to the
reversal of prior period recorded unrealized losses as the Company received $32.4 million in calls, at par, during the
year ended December 31, 2012. There were not any realized gains or losses related to these investments for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. The Company can not currently project when liquidity will be obtained from
these investments and plans to continue to hold such securities until the securities are called, redeemed, or
resecuritized by the debt issuers.

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

The Company’s liquidity or financial condition is not materially affected by off-balance sheet transactions.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following sets forth our contractual obligations and commercial commitments at December 31, 2012.
Payments due by period (in millions)

Contractual Obligations Total Less than
1 year 1–3 years 3–5 years More than 5

years
Purchase Obligation (1) $44.3 $44.3 $— $— $—
Operating lease obligations 0.2 0.1 0.1 — —
Obligations for unrecognized tax
benefits (2) 23.1 — — — 23.1

$67.6 $44.4 $0.1 $— $23.1

(1) Relates mainly to the Company's commitment on net revenue equipment purchases.

(2) Obligations for unrecognized tax benefits represent potential liabilities and include interest and penalties.  The
Company is unable to reasonably determine when these amounts will be settled.
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At December 31, 2012, the Company had a total of $15.7 million in gross unrecognized tax benefits, respectively.  Of
this amount, $10.1 million represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact our
effective tax rate as of December 31, 2012.  The total net amount of accrued interest and penalties for such
unrecognized tax benefits was $7.4 million at December 31, 2012 and is included in income taxes payable per the
consolidated balance sheet.  Income tax expense is increased each period for the accrual of interest on outstanding
positions and penalties when the uncertain tax position is initially recorded. Income tax expense is reduced in periods
by the amount of accrued interest and penalties associated with reversed uncertain tax positions due to lapse of
applicable statute of limitations, when applicable or when a position is settled. These unrecognized tax benefits relate
to risks associated with state income tax filing positions for the Company’s corporate subsidiaries.

A number of years may elapse before an uncertain tax position is audited and ultimately settled. It is difficult to
predict the ultimate outcome or the timing of resolution for uncertain tax positions. It is reasonably possible that the
amount of unrecognized tax
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benefits could significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months. These changes could result from the
expiration of the statute of limitations, examinations or other unforeseen circumstances. The Company does not have
any outstanding litigation related to tax matters.  At this time, management’s best estimate of the reasonably possible
change in the amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits to be a decrease of approximately $0.5 million to an increase
of $0.5 million during the next twelve months mainly due to the expiration of certain statute of limitations, net of
additions.  The federal statute of limitations remains open for the years 2009 and forward. Tax years 2002 and forward
may be subject to audit by state tax authorities depending on the tax code and administrative practice of each state.

As of December 31, 2012 the Company did not have any significant capital lease obligations or outstanding long-term
debt obligations.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  The
Company’s management routinely makes judgments and estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain.  As the number of variables and assumptions affecting the probable future resolution of the uncertainties
increase, these judgments become even more subjective and complex.  The Company has identified certain accounting
policies, described below, that are the most important to the portrayal of the Company’s current financial condition and
results of operations.

The most significant accounting policies and estimates that affect the financial statements include the following:

Revenue and cost recognition

Revenue is recognized when freight is delivered and is estimated for loads in transit at the end of an accounting period
based on the number of miles run prior to end of the accounting period. Revenue associated with loads delivered but
not billed as of the end of an accounting period are estimated as part of revenue for that period. Driver wages and
other direct operating expenses are recognized when freight is delivered and are estimated for loads in process at the
end of an accounting period.

Property, plant, and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of revenue equipment based on estimated use of the asset. For tractors, it has
been the historical practice of the Company to buy new tractor and trailer equipment directly from manufacturers.
Depreciable lives of tractors and trailers are 5 and 7 years, respectively. Management estimates the useful lives on
tractors based on average miles per truck per year as well as manufacturer warranty periods. The Company has not
historically run tractors outside of manufacturer warranty periods. Management estimates the useful lives of trailers
based on manufacturer warranty periods as well as the Company's internal maintenance programs. Estimates of
salvage value are based upon the expected market values of equipment at the end of the expected useful life. A key
component to expected market values of equipment is the Company's historical maintenance programs which in
management's opinion is critical to the resale value of equipment. Management selects depreciation methods that it
believes most accurately reflects the timing of benefit received from the applicable assets. Tractors and trailers are
depreciated using the 150% declining balance method and straight-line method, respectively, as management believes
this is the best matching of depreciation expense with the decline in estimated tractor and trailer values based on the
use of the tractor and trailers.

The Company periodically evaluates property and equipment for impairment upon the occurrence of events or
changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets
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to be held and used is evaluated by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset group to future net undiscounted
cash flows expected to be generated by the group. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be
recognized is measured by the amount over which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the
assets.  There were no impairment charges recognized during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, 2010.

Self-insurance accruals
Management estimates accruals for the self-insured portion of pending accident liability, workers’ compensation,
physical damage and cargo damage claims.  These accruals are based upon individual case estimates, including
reserve development, and estimates of incurred-but-not-reported losses based upon past experience. Industry
development as well as the Company's historical case results are used to determine development of individual case
claims. These liabilities are undiscounted and represent management's best estimate of its ultimate obligations.
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Stock-based compensation
Compensation expense is recognized over the underlying service period required for an employee to become vested in
a respective restricted stock award. The amount of the associated compensation expense is based on the fair value of
the awards on the date of grant and reduced by estimated forfeitures and recognized over the required service period.

Income taxes
Significant management judgment is required to determine the provision for income taxes and to determine whether
deferred income taxes will be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. Recent tax law changes have not significantly affected the Company's expectation of tax rates. A valuation
allowance is required to be established for the amount of deferred income tax assets that are determined not to be
realizable. The Company has recorded a $0.4 million valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets associated
with the unrealized loss due to auction rate securities fair value adjustments.   This valuation allowance was recorded
as the Company does not have historical capital gains nor does it expect to generate capital gains sufficient to utilize
the deferred tax asset generated by the fair value adjustments. The Company has not recorded a valuation allowance
against any other deferred tax assets as it is management's opinion that it is more likely than not the Company will be
able to utilize the remaining deferred tax assets based on the Company's history of profitability and taxable income.

Management judgment is required in the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial
statements based on recognition threshold and measurement attributes for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The unrecognized tax benefits relate to
risks associated with state income filing positions and not federal income tax filing positions. Measurement of
uncertain income tax positions is based on statutes of limitations, penalty rates, and interest rates on a state by state
and year by year basis.

Auction rate securities
Auction rate security investments are valued at fair value applying a fair value hierarchy as established by applicable
authoritative accounting guidance.  Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  As there is no
current active market for these securities, management utilizes a combination of internal discounted cash flow models
with key inputs and assumptions being the discount rate, rate of return and duration as well as external market data
provided by financial institutions.  Management does not consider there to be significant credit risk due to government
support of the underlying loans and current credit ratings.  Management monitors its investments and ongoing market
conditions to assess impairments considered to be other than temporary.  Should estimated fair values continue to
remain below cost or the fair values decrease significantly from current fair values due to credit related issues, the
Company may be required to record an impairment of these investments, through a charge in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.  To date, the Company has not recorded any impairment of these investments in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The Company performs an internal cash flow analysis on an individual investment basis to estimate fair value of ARS
using inputs determined based on management's own internal considerations as well as information derived from other
publicly available third party sources. This approach considers the anticipated estimated outstanding average life of
the underlying student loans (range of two years to twelve years) that are the collateral to the trusts, principal
outstanding, expected rates of returns over the average life of the underlying student loans using forward rate curves,
and payout formulas.  The range of estimated outstanding lives is based on call notices received by the Company,
communications with trusts, and communications with third party financial institutions. These underlying cash flows,
by individual investment, were discounted using interest rates consistent with instruments of similar quality and
duration adjusted for a lack of liquidity in the market.  The Company also obtains estimated fair value of ARS from a
third party financial advisor. The Company obtains an understanding of assumptions in models used by the third party
financial institution to estimate fair value. All of this information is considered when determining the estimated fair
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value of these instruments as recorded in the consolidated financial statements. The Company's discounted cash flow
approach requires the use of multiple input factors including an estimated rate of return, base discount rate, and a
liquidity discount rate to reflect the current lack of liquidity of ARS in capital markets due to auction failures. We
understand that the models employed by the Company's third party financial advisor are also subject to changes in
similar input factors. As such, the estimated fair value of ARS is subject to change based on significant changes to the
underlying input factors. The Company records an adjustment, which is presented as part of stockholders' equity in the
consolidated balance sheet, for any estimated differences between par value of the investments and estimated fair
value as of the measurement date. The Company has analyzed the potential impact of a 50 basis point change to the
rate of return, discount rate, and liquidity discount rate noting that this would not materially impact the recorded fair
value.

The table below shows the input factors in the Company's cash flow models as of December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 for the ARS investments held on those dates.
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December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Average life of underlying loans 2-12 years 2-12 years
Rate of return 0.42-2.11% 0.68-2.92%
Discount rate 0.25-0.84% 0.48-1.14%
Liquidity discount rate 0.17-0.61% 0.55-1.16%

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements and the
respective dates of adoption and effects on results of operations and financial position.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

General

We are exposed to market risk changes in interest rates on our investments and from changes in commodity prices,
primarily fuel and rubber. We do not currently use derivative financial instruments for risk management purposes,
although we have used instruments in the past for fuel price risk management, and do not use them for either
speculation or trading. Because our operations are confined to the United States, we are not subject to a material
foreign currency risk.

Investments

All of the Company’s long-term investment balances at December 31, 2012 and at December 31, 2011 were invested
in tax free, auction rate student ("ARS") loan educational bonds that are classified as available-for-sale.  Should the
Company have a need to liquidate any of these investments, the Company may be required to discount these securities
for liquidity but the Company currently does not have this liquidity requirement.  Based on historical and current
operating cash flows, the Company does not currently anticipate a requirement to liquidate underlying investments at
discounted prices.   If the investments are downgraded in the credit ratings or the Company witnesses other indicators
of issues with collection, the Company may be required to recognize an other than temporary impairment on these
securities and record a charge in the statement of comprehensive income.

Assuming the Company maintains long-term investment balances consistent with balances as of December 31, 2012,
($21.3 million amortized cost), and if market rates of interest on our investments decreased by 100 basis points, the
estimated reduction in annual interest income would be approximately $0.2 million.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company has no debt outstanding as of December 31, 2012 and therefore, has no market risk related to debt.
Management believes that an increase in short-term interest rates could have a materially adverse effect on our
financial condition only if we incur substantial indebtedness and the interest rate increases are not offset by freight
rate increases or other items. Management does not foresee or expect in the near future any significant changes in our
exposure to interest rate fluctuations or in how that exposure is managed by us.

Commodity Price Risk

We are subject to commodity price risk primarily with respect to purchases of fuel and rubber. Historically, we have
sought to recover a portion of our short-term fuel price increases from customers through fuel surcharges. Fuel
surcharges that can be collected do not always fully offset an increase in the cost of diesel fuel. We believe that the
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majority of the fuel price increases are generally passed to our customers although based on the Company's historical
experience, the Company is not able to pass through to customers 100% of fuel price increases. The Company is not
able to pass through fuel costs associated with out-of-route miles, empty miles, and tractor idle time. We use a
significant amount of tires to maintain our revenue equipment. The Company is not able to pass through 100% of
price increases from tire suppliers due to the severity and timing of increases and current rate environment.
Historically, we have sought to minimize tire price increases through bulk tire purchases from our suppliers.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The report of KPMG LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries, and the notes thereto, and the financial statement
schedule are included beginning on page F-1.

ITEM
9. 

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures– The Company has established disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) to ensure that material information relating to
the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the officers who certify the Company’s
financial reports and to other members of senior management and the Board of Directors.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and
with the participation of the Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer) and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer), of the effectiveness of the design
and operations of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 15d-15(e).
Based upon that evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective in enabling the Company to record, process, summarize
and report information required to be included in the Company's periodic SEC filings within the required time period.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting – The Company’s management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. This is a process designed by, or under the
supervision of the principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the board of directors,
management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

•maintain records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions;
•provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of our financial statements;

•provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of company assets are made in accordance with
management authorization; and

• provide reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of company assets that could
have a material effect on our financial statements would be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework in Internal Control– Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission as of December 31, 2012. Based on our evaluation under the framework
in Internal Control– Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2012.   
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The Company’s auditor, KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued their audit report on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, which is included in this filing on page
F-1.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting – There have been no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2012, that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10 of Part III, with the exception of the Code of Ethics discussed below, is
incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for the annual shareholders’ meeting to be held on
May 9, 2013 (the “Proxy Statement”).

Code of Ethics

The Company has adopted a code of ethics known as the "Code of Business Conduct and Ethics" that applies to the
Company’s employees including the principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and controller. In addition,
the Company has adopted a code of ethics known as "Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers".  The Company
makes these codes available on its website at www.heartlandexpress.com (and in print to any shareholder who
requests them).

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 of Part III is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement
and is included within the Proxy Statement under the heading Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

ITEM
12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT, AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 of Part III is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement and is
included within the Proxy Statement under the heading Security Ownership of Principal Stockholders and
Management.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 of Part III is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement and is
included within the Proxy Statement under the headings Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and
Corporate Governance and Board of Directors.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 of Part III is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement and is
included within the Proxy Statement under the heading Relationship with Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)   1.  Financial Statements and Schedules.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets - as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 F-2
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income - Years ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity - Years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 F-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-6
2.  Financial Statements Schedule
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves - Years ended December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010 S1

Schedules not listed have been omitted because they are not applicable or are not required or the information required
to be set forth therein is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

       3.  Exhibits–The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed at paragraph (b) below.

(b)       Exhibits.  The following exhibits are filed with this form 10-K or incorporated herein by reference to the
document set forth next to the exhibit listed below:
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EXHIBIT INDEX

3.1 Articles of Incorporation. Incorporated by reference to the Company's registration
statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 33-8165, effective November 5, 1986.

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws. Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K,
for the year ended December 31, 2007, dated February 28, 2008

3.3 Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation. Incorporated by reference to the
Company's Form 10-QA, for the quarter ended June 30, 1997, dated March 20, 1998.

4.1 Articles of Incorporation. Incorporated by reference to the Company's registration
statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 33-8165, effective November 5, 1986.

4.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws. Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K,
for the year ended December 31, 2007, dated February 28, 2008.

4.3 Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation. Incorporated by reference to the
Company's Form 10-QA, for the quarter ended June 30, 1997, dated March 20, 1998.

9.1

Voting Trust Agreement dated June 6, 1997 between Larry Crouse, as trustee under the
Gerdin Educational Trusts, and Lawrence D. Crouse, voting trustee. Incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.
Commission file no. 0-15087.

10.1* Restricted Stock Agreement. Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 14-A filed
June 13, 2011. Commission file no. 0-15087

10.2* Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006. Commission file no. 0-15087.

10.3*
Form of Award Notice under the 2011 Restricted Stock Award Plan. Incorporated by
reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.
Commission file no. 0-15087.

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant. Filed herewith

31.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended.

31.2** Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended.

32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2** Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS*** XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

**Filed with the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2012, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2013.
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*** In accordance with Regulation S-T, the XBRL-related information in Exhibit 101 shall be deemed to be
"furnished" and not "filed."

No other information is required to be filed under Part II of the form.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused the
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

HEARTLAND EXPRESS, INC.

Date:    February 28, 2013 By: /s/ Michael J. Gerdin
Michael J. Gerdin
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive
Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ John P. Cosaert
John P. Cosaert
Executive Vice President of Finance
and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Michael J. Gerdin Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer) February 28, 2013

Michael J. Gerdin

/s/ John P. Cosaert
Executive Vice President-Finance, Treasurer and
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting and
Financial Officer)

February 28, 2013

John P. Cosaert

/s/ Richard O. Jacobson Director February 28, 2013
Richard O. Jacobson

/s/ Benjamin J. Allen Director February 28, 2013
Benjamin J. Allen

/s/ Lawrence D. Crouse Director February 28, 2013
Lawrence D. Crouse

/s/ James G. Pratt Director February 28, 2013
James G. Pratt

/s/ Tahira K. Hira Director February 28, 2013
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Tahira K. Hira
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Heartland Express, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Heartland Express, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2012. In
connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the related financial
statement schedule II. We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible for
these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting included in
Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedule and an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risks. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Heartland Express, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2012, in
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conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly,
in all material respects, the information set forth therein. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Des Moines, Iowa
February 28, 2013 
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HEARTLAND EXPRESS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS December 31
2012

December 31
2011

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $119,838 $139,770
Trade receivables, net 46,555 44,198
Prepaid tires 6,603 12,820
Other current assets 2,281 1,932
Income tax receivable 2,351 314
Deferred income taxes, net 13,797 14,401
Total current assets $191,425 $213,435
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land and land improvements 17,451 17,451
Buildings 26,761 26,761
Furniture and fixtures 2,269 2,269
Shop and service equipment 7,266 7,324
Revenue equipment 378,583 355,905

432,330 409,710
Less accumulated depreciation 189,959 161,269
Property and equipment, net $242,371 $248,441
LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS 20,016 50,569
GOODWILL 4,815 4,815
OTHER ASSETS 9,110 8,406

$467,737 $525,666
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $7,583 $9,088
Compensation and benefits 16,409 15,493
Insurance accruals 13,924 13,997
Other accruals 7,439 7,085
Total current liabilities $45,355 $45,663
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Income taxes payable $23,122 $24,077
Deferred income taxes, net 51,306 57,661
Insurance accruals less current portion 57,590 57,494
Total long-term liabilities $132,018 $139,232
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, par value $.01; authorized 5,000 shares; none issued $— $—
Capital stock, common, $.01 par value; authorized 395,000 shares; issued 90,689
in 2012 and 2011; outstanding 84,770 and 86,475 in 2012 and 2011, respectively 907 907

Additional paid-in capital 2,968 589
Retained earnings 368,313 398,706
Treasury stock, at cost; 5,919 and 4,214 shares in 2012 and 2011, respectively (80,540 ) (56,350 )
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Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,284 ) (3,081 )
$290,364 $340,771
$467,737 $525,666

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HEARTLAND EXPRESS, INC
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

OPERATING REVENUE $545,745 $528,623 $499,516

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries, wages and benefits $167,073 $166,717 $167,980
Rent and purchased transportation 6,273 7,527 9,460
Fuel 168,981 161,915 126,477
Operations and maintenance 25,282 20,938 17,086
Operating taxes and licenses 8,694 9,225 8,480
Insurance and claims 14,906 13,142 12,526
Communications and utilities 2,953 2,957 3,187
Depreciation 57,158 57,226 61,949
Other operating expenses 14,633 14,552 14,239
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (15,109 ) (32,133 ) (13,317 )

450,844 422,066 408,067

Operating income 94,901 106,557 91,449

Interest income 674 773 1,424

Income before income taxes 95,575 107,330 92,873

Federal and state income taxes 34,034 37,398 30,657

Net income $61,541 $69,932 $62,216
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 1,797 — 2,245
Comprehensive income $63,338 $69,932 $64,461

Net income per share
Basic $0.72 $0.78 $0.69
Diluted $0.71 $0.78 $0.69

Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic 85,892 89,656 90,689
Diluted 86,201 89,673 90,689

Dividends declared per share $1.08 $0.08 $1.08

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HEARTLAND EXPRESS, INC
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated
Capital Additional Other
Stock, Paid-In Retained Treasury Comprehensive
Common Capital Earnings Stock Loss Total

Balance, January 1, 2010 $907 $439 $371,650 $— $(5,326 ) $367,670
Net income — — 62,216 — — 62,216
Other comprehensive
income, net of tax — — — — 2,245 2,245

Dividends on common
stock, $1.08 per share — — (97,944 ) — — (97,944 )

Balance, December 31, 2010 907 439 335,922 — (3,081 ) 334,187
Net income — — 69,932 — — 69,932
Other comprehensive
income, net of tax — — — — — —

Dividends on common
stock, $0.08 per share — — (7,148 ) — — (7,148 )

Repurchases of common
stock — — — (56,350 ) — (56,350 )

Stock-based compensation — 150 — — — 150
Balance, December 31, 2011 907 589 398,706 (56,350 ) (3,081 ) 340,771
Net income — — 61,541 — — 61,541
Other comprehensive
income, net of tax — — — — 1,797 1,797

Dividends on common
stock, $1.08 per share — — (91,934 ) — — (91,934 )

Repurchases of common
stock — — — (24,190 ) — (24,190 )

Stock-based compensation — 2,379 — — — 2,379
Balance, December 31, 2012 $907 $2,968 $368,313 $(80,540 ) $(1,284 ) $290,364

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HEARTLAND EXPRESS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $61,541 $69,932 $62,216
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
  by operating activities:
Depreciation 57,821 57,876 61,949
Deferred income taxes (5,751 ) 14,743 (8,440 )
Amortization of stock-based compensation 2,379 150 —
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (15,109 ) (32,133 ) (13,317 )
Changes in certain working capital items:
Trade receivables (2,357 ) (2,579 ) (4,258 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,688 (6,459 ) 252
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and accrued expenses 953 (952 ) 1,609
Accrued income taxes (2,992 ) (1,498 ) (1,404 )
Net cash provided by operating activities 102,173 99,080 98,607
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 29,184 73,018 21,649
Purchases of property and equipment, net of trades (66,811 ) (126,257 ) (14,551 )
Maturity and calls of investments 32,350 38,125 79,225
Purchases of investments — — (18,000 )
Change in other assets (704 ) (1,818 ) (217 )
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (5,981 ) (16,932 ) 68,106
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash dividends (91,934 ) (7,148 ) (97,944 )
Repurchases of common stock (24,190 ) (56,350 ) —
Net cash used in financing activities (116,124 ) (63,498 ) (97,944 )
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (19,932 ) 18,650 68,769
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of period 139,770 121,120 52,351
End of period $119,838 $139,770 $121,120
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW
INFORMATION
Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net of refunds $42,776 $24,152 $40,502
Noncash investing and financing activities:
Fair value of revenue equipment traded $— $— $14,604
Purchased property and equipment in accounts payable $698 $1,683 $1,190

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HEARTLAND EXPRESS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1.  Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business

Heartland Express, Inc., (the "Company") is a short-to-medium-haul truckload carrier of general commodities.  The
Company provides nationwide transportation service to major shippers, using late-model equipment and a combined
fleet of company-owned and independent contractor tractors. The Company’s primary traffic lanes are between
customer locations east of the Rocky Mountains.  In addition to the primary traffic lanes the Company also has a
terminal located in Phoenix, Arizona which services markets located in the Western States.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the parent company, Heartland Express, Inc., and its
subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned.  All material intercompany items and transactions have been eliminated
in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Segment Information

The Company has eleven regional operating divisions, in addition to operations at the Company's corporate
headquarters; however, it has determined that it has one reportable segment. The operating divisions are operated out
of our ten office locations including our corporate headquarters. All of the divisions are managed based on similar
economic characteristics. Each of the regional operating divisions provides short-to-medium haul truckload carrier
services of general commodities to a similar class of customers. In addition, each division exhibits similar financial
performance, including average revenue per mile and operating ratio. As a result of the foregoing, the Company has
determined that it is appropriate to aggregate its operating divisions into one reportable segment, consistent with the
authoritative accounting guidance on disclosures about segments of an enterprise and related information.
Accordingly, the Company has not presented separate segment financial information.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments with insignificant interest rate risk and original maturities
of three months or less at acquisition. Restricted and designated cash and investments totaling $9.1 million at
December 31, 2012 and $8.4 million at December 31, 2011 are included in other non-current assets per the
consolidated balance sheet.  The restricted funds represent deposits required by state agencies for self-insurance
purposes and designated funds that are earmarked for a specific purpose and not for general business use.
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Investments

The Company determines the appropriate classification of the securities at the time they are acquired and evaluates the
appropriateness of such classification at each balance sheet date.  The Company has classified its investment in
auction rate securities as available-for-sale totaling $20.0 million and $50.6 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.  Available-for-sale securities, comprised entirely of auction rate securities, are stated at fair value, and
unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the related deferred tax effect, are reported as a component of stockholders’
equity.  Realized gains and losses are determined on the basis of the specific securities sold.  Investments are reviewed
quarterly for other-than-temporary impairments. Municipal bonds of $1.3 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011 are
stated at amortized cost, are classified as held-to-maturity and are included in restricted cash in other non-current
assets.  Investment income received on available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investments is generally exempt from
federal income taxes and is accrued as earned. See Note 3 for further discussion of fair value measurements of
investments.
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Trade Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Revenue is recognized when freight is delivered, creating a credit sale and an account receivable.  Credit terms for
customer accounts are typically on a net 30 day basis.   The Company uses a percentage of aged receivable method
and its write off history in estimating the allowance for bad debts.  The Company reviews the adequacy of its
allowance for doubtful accounts on a monthly basis.  The Company is aggressive in its collection efforts resulting in a
low number of write-offs annually.  Conditions that would lead an account to be considered uncollectible include
customers filing bankruptcy and the exhaustion of all practical collection efforts.  The Company will use the necessary
legal recourse to recover as much of the receivable as is practical under the law.  Allowance for doubtful accounts was
$0.8 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Property, Equipment, and Depreciation

Property and equipment are reported at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Maintenance and repairs are charged to
operations as incurred.   Tires are capitalized separately from revenue equipment and are reported separately as
“Prepaid Tires” in the consolidated balance sheets and amortized over two years.  Depreciation expense of $0.7 million
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 has been included in communication and utilities in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income. Depreciation for financial statement purposes is computed by the straight-line
method for all assets other than tractors.  The Company recognizes depreciation expense on tractors at 150% declining
balance. Tractors are depreciated to salvage values of $15,000 while trailers are depreciated to salvage values of
$4,000.

Lives of the assets are as follows:
Years

Land improvements and buildings 5-30
Furniture and fixtures 3-5
Shop & service equipment 3-10
Revenue equipment 5-7

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates property and equipment for impairment upon the occurrence of events or
changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets
to be held and used is evaluated by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset group to future net undiscounted
cash flows expected to be generated by the group. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be
recognized is measured by the amount over which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the
assets.  There were no impairment charges recognized during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010,
respectively.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred.  Advertising costs are included in other operating expenses
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Advertising expense was $1.0 million, $1.2 million, and
$0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010.

Goodwill
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Goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment by applying a fair value based analysis in accordance with the
authoritative accounting guidance on goodwill and other intangible assets.  The Company’s annual assessment is
conducted as of the end of September each year and no other indicators requiring assessment were identified during
the period from this assessment through year-end.  Management determined that no impairment charge was required
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010.

Self –Insurance Accruals

Insurance accruals reflect the estimated cost for auto liability, cargo loss and damage, bodily injury and property
damage (BI/PD), and workers’ compensation claims, including estimated loss and loss adjustment expenses incurred
but not reported, and not covered by insurance.  Accident and workers’ compensation accruals are based upon
individual case estimates, including reserve
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development, and estimates of incurred-but-not-reported losses based upon the Company's own historical experience
and industry claim trends. Insurance accruals are not discounted. The cost of cargo and BI/PD insurance and claims
are included in insurance and claims expense, while the costs of workers’ compensation insurance and claims are
included in salaries, wages, and benefits in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Health insurance accruals reflect the estimated cost of health related claims, including estimated expenses incurred but
not reported.  The cost of health insurance and claims are included in salaries, wages and benefits in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.  Health insurance accruals of $3.7 million and $3.5 million are included in other
accruals in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Revenue and Expense Recognition

Revenue is recognized when freight is delivered and is estimated for loads in transit at the end of an accounting period
based on the number of miles run prior to end of the accounting period. Revenue associated with loads delivered but
not billed as of the end of an accounting period are estimated as part of revenue for that period. Fuel surcharge
revenue charged to customers is earned consistent with the timing of freight revenues and included in operating
revenue in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Fuel surcharge revenues were $112.4 million,
$107.8 million, and $75.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. Driver wages
and other direct operating expenses are recognized when freight is delivered and are estimated for loads in process at
the end of an accounting period.

Stock-based compensation

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan that provides for the grants of restricted stock awards to
employees of the Company. The Company accounts for restricted stock awards using the fair value method of
accounting for stock-based compensation. Issuances of stock upon vesting of restricted stock are made from treasury
stock. Compensation expense for restricted stock grants is recognized over the requisite service period of each award
and is included in salaries, wages and benefits in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Total
compensation of $4.8 million is being amortized over the requisite service period for each separate vesting period as if
the award is, in substance, multiple awards.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is based upon the weighted average common shares outstanding during each year.  Diluted
earnings per share is based on the basic weighted earnings per share with additional weighted common shares for
common stock equivalents. During the year ended December 31, 2010 the Company did not have any common stock
equivalents; therefore, diluted earnings per share were equal to basic earnings per share for those periods. During the
year ended December 31, 2011 the Company granted shares of common stock to certain employees of the Company
under the 2011 Restricted Stock Award Plan. A reconciliation of the numerator (net income) and denominator
(weighted average number of shares outstanding of the basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") for 2012 and
2011 is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

2012
Net Income
(numerator) Shares (denominator) Per Share Amount

Basic EPS $61,541 85,892 $0.72
Effect of restricted stock — 309
Diluted EPS $61,541 86,201 $0.71

Edgar Filing: HEARTLAND EXPRESS INC - Form 10-K

79



2011
Net Income
(numerator) Shares (denominator) Per Share Amount

Basic EPS $69,932 89,656 $0.78
Effect of restricted stock — 17
Diluted EPS $69,932 89,673 $0.78
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Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statements
carrying amount of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  Such amounts are adjusted, as appropriate, to reflect changes in
tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse.  The effect of a change in tax rates on
deferred taxes is recognized in the period that the change in enacted.   A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the
Company’s deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

Pursuant to the authoritative accounting guidance on income taxes, when establishing a valuation allowance, the
Company considers future sources of taxable income such as “future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences
and carry-forwards” and “tax planning strategies”.  In the event the Company determines that the deferred tax assets will
not be realized in the future, the valuation adjustment to the deferred tax assets is charged to earnings or accumulated
other comprehensive loss based on the nature of the asset giving rise to the deferred tax asset and the facts and
circumstances resulting in that conclusion.

The Company calculates its current and deferred tax provision based on estimates and assumptions that could differ
from the actual results reflected in income tax returns filed in subsequent years.  Adjustments based on filed returns
are recorded when identified.

The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being
sustained.  Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of
being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment
occurs.  The Company records interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income refers
to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are not included in net income, but rather are recorded directly in
stockholders' equity. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, comprehensive income consists of net
income and unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities.

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued new accounting guidance which revises the
manner in which companies present comprehensive income in their financial statements. The new guidance removes
the presentation options previously allowed and requires companies to report components of comprehensive income
as part of the consolidated statement of income or as a separate consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The
revised guidance did not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income. The guidance was
effective for the Company on January 1, 2012. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2012. During the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2010 there was $1.8 million and $2.2 million, respectively, of income recorded
directly in stockholders' equity related entirely to an unrealized gain on available for sale securities due to the reversal
of a previously recorded reserve to adjust certain investments to estimated fair value based on calls of investments at
par. During the year ended December 31, 2011 there were no amounts recorded directly in stockholders' equity and
therefore there was no difference between net income and comprehensive income for this period.
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Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued new accounting guidance which requires companies to provide information about
the amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component. In addition, a company
is required to present significant amounts reclassified out of comprehensive income (loss) by the respective line items
of net income. This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after
December 15, 2012. The Company will reflect the impact of these amendments, if any, beginning with the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2013. As the new standard does not change the
current requirements for reporting net income or other comprehensive loss in the financial statements, the Company's
financial position, results of operations or cash flows will not be impacted.

In September 2011 the FASB issued amendments to the guidance on testing goodwill for impairment. The new
guidance provides an entity the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely
than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If an entity determines that this is the
case, it is required to perform the currently prescribed two-step goodwill impairment test to identify potential goodwill
impairment and measure the amount of goodwill
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impairment loss to be recognized for the reporting unit (if any). If an entity determines that the fair value of a
reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, the two-step goodwill impairment test is not required. Annual
impairment tests are performed by the Company in the third quarter of each year. The adoption of this updated
authoritative guidance did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements and there were no impairment
charges recognized during the third quarter of 2012 as a result of the Company's annual impairment tests.

In May 2011 the FASB issued new accounting guidance which relates to how to measure fair value and on what
disclosures to provide about fair value measurements as a result of joint efforts by the FASB and International
Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") to develop a single, converged fair value framework. The new guidance is
effective prospectively for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of this
authoritative guidance did not have an impact on the Company's fair value measurements and disclosures of the
Company's fair value measurements.

Note 2.  Concentrations of Credit Risk and Major Customers

The Company’s major customers represent primarily the consumer goods, appliances, food products and automotive
industries.  Credit is granted to customers on an unsecured basis.  The Company’s five largest customers accounted for
39%, 38%, and 38% of total gross revenues for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The
Company's five largest customers accounted for 31% and 32% of gross accounts receivable as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively.

Operating revenues from one customer exceeded 10% of total gross revenues in 2012, 2011, and 2010. Annual
revenues for the account each year was $60.4 million, $69.3 million, and $62.9 million, for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Note 3.  Investments and Fair Value Measurements

All of the Company’s long-term investment balances at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 were invested in
tax free, auction rate student ("ARS") loan educational bonds that are classified as available-for-sale.  The investments
typically have an interest reset provision of 35 days with contractual maturities that currently range from June 1, 2034
to May 1, 2040.  At the reset date, the Company has the option to roll the investments and reset the interest rate or sell
the investments in an auction. The Company receives the par value of the investment plus accrued interest on the reset
date if the underlying investment is sold. All of the ARS holdings are backed by the U.S. government. As of
December 31, 2011, 100% of ARS holdings, at par, held AAA (or equivalent) ratings from recognized rating
agencies. As of December 31, 2012, 41% of ARS holdings, at par, held AAA (or equivalent) ratings from recognized
rating agencies.  The remaining ARS holdings, at par, held high grade investment (AA+) or upper medium grade
investment (A) ratings from recognized rating agencies.

Municipal bonds are classified as held to maturity, are carried at amortized cost and are included in other assets per
the consolidated balance sheet. Differences between amortized cost and fair value of municipal bonds are not
considered material. Auction rate securities are classified as available-for-sale and therefore are carried at fair value as
estimated using Level 3 fair value inputs. The amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale investments at
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 were as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
( in thousands)

December 31, 2012
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Long-term:
     Auction rate student loan educational bonds $21,300 $— $1,284 $20,016
December 31, 2011
Long-term:
     Auction rate student loan educational bonds $53,650 $— $3,081 $50,569

The contractual maturities, calls received subsequent to December 31, 2012, and announced calls of available-for-sale
securities at December 31, 2012 are detailed in the table below. The table is prepared based on information known to
management as of December 31, 2012 as well as unannounced calls that were received prior to filing date of this
report. As management receives
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intents to call from issuers, the associated securities are changed from their contractual maturities to the date received
in the respective call notice.

Fair Value Amortized
Cost

Due within one year $25 $25
Due after one year through five years — —
Due after five years through ten years — —
Due after ten years through May 1, 2040 19,991 21,275

$20,016 $21,300

As of December 31, 2012, all of the Company’s auction rate student loan bonds were associated with unsuccessful
auctions.  As such, the estimated fair value of the underlying investments had declined below amortized cost of the
investments as a result of liquidity issues in the auction rate markets. To date, there have been no instances of
delinquencies or non-payment of applicable interest from the issuers and all calls of securities by the issuers have been
at par value plus accrued interest.  Since the first auction failures in February 2008 when the Company had
approximately $198.5 million ARS at par, the Company has received approximately $177.2 million of calls from
issuers, at par, plus accrued interest at the time of the call.  This includes $32.4 million and $38.1 million, received in
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 respectively. Accrued interest income is included in other current assets
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Estimated fair value of all auction rate security investments as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 was
calculated using unobservable, Level 3 inputs, due to the lack of observable market inputs specifically related to
student loan ARS as a result of auction failures beginning in February 2008.  The fair value of these investments as of
the December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 measurement dates could not be determined with precision based on
lack of observable market data and could vary significantly in future measurement periods.

The Company performs an internal cash flow analysis on an individual investment basis to estimate fair value of ARS
using inputs determined based on management's understanding of market conditions as well as information derived
from other publicly available third party sources. The Company also obtains estimated fair value of ARS from a third
party financial advisor. The Company obtains an understanding of assumptions in models used by third party financial
institutions to estimate fair value. All of this information is considered when determining the estimated fair value of
these instruments as recorded in the consolidated financial statements. The Company has analyzed the potential
impact of a 50 basis point change to the rate of return, discount rate, and liquidity discount rate noting that this would
not materially impact the recorded fair value.

The table below shows the inputs in the Company's cash flow models as of December 31, 2012 for the remaining ARS
investments compared to the inputs used in cash flow models as of December 31, 2011. Inputs used in Company
models of all securities held as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, excluding investments whose fair
value is estimated to be par value as of the reporting period due to call notices being received by the Company were as
follows:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Average life of underlying loans 2-12 years 2-12 years
Rate of return 0.42-2.11% 0.68-2.92%
Discount rate 0.25-0.84% 0.48-1.14%
Liquidity discount rate 0.17-0.61% 0.55-1.16%

The unrealized loss of $1.3 million is recorded as an adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive loss and the
Company has not recognized any other than temporary impairments in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
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income.  During the year ended December 31, 2012 the Company recorded unrealized gains of $1.8 million due to the
reversal of prior period recorded unrealized losses as the Company received $32.4 million in calls, at par, during the
year ended December 31, 2012. There were not any realized gains or losses related to these investments for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. The Company can not currently project when liquidity will be obtained from
these investments and plans to continue to hold such securities until the securities are called, redeemed, or
resecuritized by the debt issuers.

The Company continues to evaluate the unrealized loss on these securities to determine whether the decline in fair
value is other than temporary. Management has concluded the decline in fair value to be temporary based on the
following considerations.
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•

Since auction failures began in February 2008, the Company has received approximately $177.2 million as the result
of calls by issuers which includes $32.4 million in calls received during the year ended December 31, 2012.   The
Company received par value for the amount of these calls plus accrued interest. There have not been any defaults on
scheduled interest payments nor has the Company sold any investments for less than par value of the underlying
securities.

•

Based on the Company's financial operating results, current cash balances, operating cash flows and debt free balance
sheet, the Company does not have the intent to sell such securities at a discount and it is not more likely than not to be
required to sell the securities before they recover their value.  These investments represented 4.3% of the Company's
total assets as of December 31, 2012.

•
There have not been any significant changes in collateralization or significant declines in ratings of the underlying
securities since the first failed auction.  All of the Company's auction rate security portfolio, as of December 31, 2012,
is in senior positions of investment grade rated securities and are backed by the U.S. government.

•

The Company is aware of continued trends in increases in default rates of the underlying student loans that are the
assets to the trusts issuing the auction rate security debt, which management believes is due to current overall
economic conditions and unemployment rates.  As the underlying loans are guaranteed by the U.S. Government,
defaults of the loans accelerate payment of the underlying loan to the trust.  As trusts are no longer recycling
repayment money for new loans, accelerated repayment of any student loan to the underlying trust would increase
cash flows of the trust which would potentially result in partial calls by the underlying trusts.

•
As trusts are no longer recycling underlying loan repayment money for new loans, excess funds are being used to pay
down debt of the trust therefore potentially resulting in partial calls of securities held by the Company prior to
contractual maturities.

•

The Company is aware of recent transactions taking place in secondary markets as well as tender offers for ARS at
subpar pricing. At this time, the Company does not intend to tender any holdings at subpar pricing. As other ARS debt
holders tender ARS debt back to trusts at subpar pricing, the overall equity position of senior holdings of a trust is
strengthened.
•Current market activity and the lack of severity or extended decline do not warrant such action at this time.

Management will monitor its investments and ongoing market conditions in future periods to assess impairments
considered to be other than temporary. Should fair value continue to remain below cost or decrease significantly from
current levels due to credit related issues, the Company may be required to record an other than temporary impairment
of these investments, through a charge in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income although the factors
currently do not warrant such a charge.

The table below presents a rollforward for all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, on a recurring basis using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Available-for-sale
debt securities
(in thousands)
2012 2011

Balance, January 1 $50,569 $88,694
Settlements (32,350 ) (38,125 )
Purchases — —
Issuances — —
Sales — —
Transfers in to (out of) Level 3 — —
Total gains or losses (realized/unrealized):
Included in earnings — —
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Included in other comprehensive income, net of tax 1,797 —
Balance, December 31, $20,016 $50,569
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Note 4.  Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31  are as follows:
2012 2011
(in thousands)

Deferred income tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 305 $ 288
Accrued expenses 6,655 6,513
Stock-based compensation 579 46
Insurance accruals 27,549 27,677
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale investments 449 1,078
Indirect tax benefits of unrecognized tax benefits 5,658 5,767
Other 1,011 1,230
Total gross deferred tax assets 42,206 42,599
Less valuation allowance (449 ) (1,078 )
Net deferred tax assets 41,757 41,521
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Property and equipment (77,177 ) (82,897 )
Goodwill (1,351 ) (1,195 )
Prepaid expenses (738 ) (689 )

(79,266 ) (84,781 )
Net deferred tax liability $ (37,509 ) $ (43,260 )

The deferred tax amounts above have been classified in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at
December 31, 2012 and 2011 as follows:

2012 2011
(in thousands)

Current assets, net $ 13,797 $ 14,401
Noncurrent liabilities, net (51,306 ) (57,661 )

$ (37,509 ) $ (43,260 )

The Company had recorded a valuation allowance of $0.4 million and $1.1 million at December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively, related to the Company’s deferred tax asset associated specifically with unrealized
losses on auction rate securities. This valuation allowance was recorded as the Company does not have historical
capital gains nor does it expect to generate capital gains sufficient to utilize the entire deferred tax asset generated by
the fair value adjustment.  As the fair value adjustment was recorded through accumulated other comprehensive loss,
the associated valuation allowance was also recorded through accumulated other comprehensive loss.  The above
mentioned allowance did not impact the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the years December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010 as the deferred tax asset was fully reserved prior to changes in fair value adjustments recorded in
2012 and 2010.  The Company has not recorded a valuation allowance against any other deferred tax assets.  In
management’s opinion, it is more likely than not that the Company will be able to utilize these deferred tax assets in
future periods as a result of the Company’s history of profitability, taxable income, and reversal of deferred tax
liabilities.
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Income tax expense consists of the following:
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Current income taxes:
Federal $ 38,148 $ 20,460 $ 40,165
State 1,636 2,195 (1,068 )

39,784 22,655 39,097
Deferred income taxes:
Federal (5,890 ) 16,587 (7,804 )
State 140 (1,844 ) (636 )

(5,750 ) 14,743 (8,440 )
Total $ 34,034 $ 37,398 $ 30,657

The income tax provision differs from the amount determined by applying the U.S. federal tax rate as follows:
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Federal tax at statutory rate (35%) $ 33,451 $ 37,565 $ 32,506
State taxes, net of federal benefit 1,554 981 (213 )
Non-taxable interest income (48 ) (104 ) (243 )
Uncertain income tax penalties and interest, net (616 ) (1,159 ) (1,377 )
Other (307 ) 115 (16 )

$ 34,034 $ 37,398 $ 30,657

At December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had a total of $15.7 million and $16.1 million in gross
unrecognized tax benefits, respectively.  Of this amount, $10.1 million and $10.3 million represents the amount of
unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact our effective tax rate as of December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011.  Unrecognized tax benefits were a net decrease of $0.3 million and $2.1 million during the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, due mainly to the expiration of certain statutes of limitation net of
additions.  This had the effect of reducing the effective state tax rate during these respective periods. The total net
amount of accrued interest and penalties for such unrecognized tax benefits was $7.4 million and $8.0 million at
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and is included in income taxes payable per the consolidated balance
sheet.  Net interest and penalties included in income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010 was a benefit of approximately $0.6 million, $1.2 million, and $1.4 million respectively. Income tax expense is
increased each period for the accrual of interest on outstanding positions and penalties when the uncertain tax position
is initially recorded. Income tax expense is reduced in periods by the amount of accrued interest and penalties
associated with reversed uncertain tax positions due to lapse of applicable statute of limitations, when applicable or
when a position is settled. Income tax expense was reduced during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010 due to reversals of interest and penalties due to lapse of applicable statute of limitations, net of additions for
interest and penalty accruals during the same period. These unrecognized tax benefits relate to risks associated with
state income tax filing positions for the Company’s corporate subsidiaries.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
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2012 2011
(in thousands)

Balance at January 1, $16,062 $18,140
Additions based on tax positions related to current year 1,146 1,200
Additions for tax positions of prior years 1,075 —
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (134 ) —
Reductions due to lapse of applicable statute of limitations (2,426 ) (3,278 )
Settlements — —
Balance at December 31, $15,723 $16,062

A number of years may elapse before an uncertain tax position is audited and ultimately settled. It is difficult to
predict the ultimate outcome or the timing of resolution for uncertain tax positions. It is reasonably possible that the
amount of unrecognized tax benefits could significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months. These
changes could result from the expiration of the statute of limitations, examinations or other unforeseen circumstances.
The Company does not have any outstanding litigation related to tax matters.  At this time, management’s best estimate
of the reasonably possible change in the amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits to be a decrease of approximately
$0.5 million to an increase of $0.5 million during the next twelve months mainly due to the expiration of certain
statute of limitations, net of additions.  The federal statute of limitations remains open for the years 2009 and forward.
Tax years 2002 and forward are subject to audit by state tax authorities depending on the tax code and administrative
practice of each state.

Note 5.  Accident and Workers’ Compensation Insurance Liabilities

The Company acts as a self-insurer for auto liability involving property damage, personal injury, or cargo up to $2.0
million for any individual claim. Liabilities in excess of these amounts are covered by insurance up to $55.0 million in
the aggregate for the coverage period.

The Company acts as a self-insurer for workers’ compensation liability up to $1.0 million for any individual claim.
Liabilities in excess of this amount are covered by insurance.  The State of Iowa initially required the Company to
deposit $0.7 million into a trust fund as part of the self-insurance program.  Earnings on this account become part of
the required deposit and as of December 31, 2012 total deposits in this account were $1.3 million. This deposit is in
municipal bonds classified as held-to-maturity and is recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.  In
addition, the Company has provided its insurance carriers with letters of credit totaling approximately $3.2 million in
connection with its liability and workers’ compensation insurance arrangements.  There were no outstanding balances
due on the letters of credit at December 31, 2012 or 2011.

Accident and workers’ compensation accruals include the estimated settlements, settlement expenses and an estimate
for claims incurred but not yet reported for property damage, personal injury and public liability losses from vehicle
accidents and cargo losses as well as workers’ compensation claims for amounts not covered by insurance.  Accident
and workers’ compensation accruals are based upon individual case estimates, including reserve development, and
estimates of incurred-but-not-reported losses based upon the Company's own historical experience and industry claim
trends.  Since the reported liability is an estimate, the ultimate liability may be more or less than reported.  If
adjustments to previously established accruals are required, such amounts are included in operating expenses in the
current period. These accruals are recorded on an undiscounted basis. Estimated claim payments to be made within
one year of the balance sheet date have been classified as insurance accruals within current liabilities as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Note 6. Equity
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In September, 2001, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a program to repurchase 15.4 million shares,
adjusted for stock splits, of the Company’s common stock in open market or negotiated transactions using available
cash, cash equivalents and investments.  As of December 31, 2011 there were approximately 2.2 million shares
remaining authorized for repurchase under a repurchase program. During February 2012, the Board of Directors
increased the shares authorized for repurchase from the amount available to repurchase by approximately 2.8 million
shares to a total of 5.0 million shares. There were 1.8 million shares repurchased in the open market during the year
ended December 31, 2012 for a total of $24.2 million all of which were repurchased subsequent to the Board of
Directors increased authorization in February 2012. The authorization remains open at December 31, 2012 and has no
expiration date. Approximately 3.2 million shares remain authorized for repurchase under the program as of
December 31, 2012. There were 4.2 million shares repurchased during 2011 for a total of $56.4 million and there were
no shares repurchased in 2010. Shares repurchased during 2012 and 2011 were accounted for as treasury stock. Any
shares purchased under
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the repurchase program prior to 2011 were retired. The repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any
time without prior notice.  

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 the Company’s Board of Directors declared regular
quarterly dividends totaling $6.9 million, $7.1 million, and $7.3 million.  The Company paid a special dividend of
$85.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2012 and $90.7 million during the third quarter of 2010 . Future payment of
cash dividends and the amount of such dividends will depend upon financial conditions, results of operations, cash
requirements, tax treatment, and certain corporate law requirements, as well as factors deemed relevant by our Board
of Directors.

Note 7. Stock-Based Compensation

On July 11, 2011, a Special Meeting of Stockholders of Heartland Express, Inc. was held, at which meeting the
approval of the Heartland Express, Inc. 2011 Restricted Stock Award Plan (the "Plan") was ratified. The Plan is
administered by the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors (the "Committee"). In accordance
with and subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee has the authority to determine all provisions of awards
of restricted stock, including, without limitation, the employees of the Company who will receive awards, the number
of shares awarded to individual employees, the time or times when awards will be granted, restrictions and other
conditions (including, for example, the lapse of time) to which the vesting of awards may be subject, and other terms
and conditions and form of agreement to be entered into by the Company and employees subject to awards of
restricted stock. The Committee may allocate all or any portion of its responsibilities and powers under the Plan to any
one or more of its members, the Chief Executive Officer, or other senior members of management as the Committee
deems appropriate. Per the terms of the awards, employees receiving awards will have all of the rights of a
stockholder with respect to the unvested restricted shares including, but not limited to, the right to receive such cash
dividends, if any, as may be declared on such shares from time to time and the right to vote such shares at any meeting
of stockholders of the Company.

The Plan made available up to 0.9 million shares for the purpose of making restricted stock grants to eligible officers
and employees of the Company. During December 2011, 0.4 million shares were granted to employees and no
additional shares were granted during 2012. The shares granted under the Plan are service based awards beginning
December 14, 2011 and 20% of the awards vest each June 1st through 2016. Once vested, there are no other
restrictions on the awards. Compensation expense associated with these awards is based on the market value of the
Company's stock on the grant date. The Company's market closing price on December 14, 2011, grant date, was
$13.57. There were no significant assumptions made in determining the fair value. Compensation expense associated
with restricted stock awards is included in salaries, wages and benefits in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income. Compensation expense associated with restricted stock awards was $2.4 million and $0.2
million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Unrecognized compensation expense was $2.2
million at December 31, 2012. Unrecognized compensation expense will be recognized over a weighted average
period of 1.8 years from the grant date of December 14, 2011 and total period of 4.5 years.

The following table summarizes the Company's restricted stock award activity for the years ended December 31, 2012
and December 31, 2011. The vesting date for all awards vested in 2012 was June 1, 2012. There were no restricted
stock awards granted or outstanding during 2010.

2012
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Number of Shares of Restricted
Stock Awards (in thousands)

Weighted Average Grant Date
Fair Value

Unvested at beginning of year 351 $13.57
Granted — $—
Vested (70 ) $13.57
Forfeited (4 ) $13.57
Outstanding (unvested) at end of year 277 $13.57
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2011
Number of Shares of Restricted
Stock Awards (in thousands)

Weighted Average Grant Date
Fair Value

Unvested at beginning of year — $—
Granted 351 $13.57
Vested — $—
Forfeited — $—
Outstanding (unvested) at end of year 351 $13.57

Note 8.  Profit Sharing Plan and Retirement Plan

The Company has a retirement savings plan (the "Plan") for substantially all employees who have completed one year
of service and are 19 years of age or older.  Employees may make 401(k) contributions subject to Internal Revenue
Code limitations. The Plan provides for a discretionary profit sharing contribution to non-driver employees and a
matching contribution of a discretionary percentage to driver employees.  Company profit sharing contributions
totaled approximately $0.7 million, $0.8 million, and $0.7 million, for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively.

Note 9.  Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is a party to ordinary, routine litigation and administrative proceedings incidental to its business. In the
opinion of management, the Company’s potential exposure under pending legal proceedings is adequately provided for
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  

The total estimated purchase commitments for tractors, net of tractor sale commitments, and trailer equipment, at
December 31, 2012, including amounts due on equipment received prior to December 31, 2012, but not paid for, was
$44.3 million.

Note 10. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
First Second Third Fourth
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

Year ended December 31, 2012
Operating revenue $ 134,833 $ 139,710 $ 135,010 $ 136,192
Operating income 23,778 26,748 19,667 24,708
Income before income taxes 23,920 26,915 19,858 24,882
Net income 16,588 18,227 12,434 14,292
Net income per share, basic 0.19 0.21 0.15 0.17
Net income per share, diluted 0.19 0.21 0.14 0.17

Year ended December 31, 2011
Operating revenue $ 127,692 $ 137,192 $ 132,529 $ 131,210
Operating income 21,873 32,687 25,132 26,865
Income before income taxes 22,110 32,895 25,306 27,019
Net income 14,879 22,532 15,399 17,122
Net income per share, basic 0.16 0.25 0.17 0.20
Net income per share, diluted 0.16 0.25 0.17 0.20

Note 11.  Subsequent Events
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The Company has evaluated events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2012 through the filing date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for disclosure. No events occurred requiring disclosure.

F-17
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SCHEDULE II
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)
Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E

Charges To
Balance At Cost Balance
Beginning And Other At End

Description of Period Expense Accounts Deductions of Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Year ended December 31, 2012 $ 791 $ 205 $ — $ 167 $ 829
Year ended December 31, 2011 775 83 — 67 791
Year ended December 31, 2010 775 3 — 3 775
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